
SCRUTINY : REGENERATION AND 
PUBLIC PROTECTION MEETING

2.30 pm TUESDAY, 5TH MARCH, 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.00 pm.  
This Meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Active Travel 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

5 - 10

4. Update on Destination Management 
To consider the attached report 11 - 40

5. Home to School Transport 
To consider the attached report 41 - 70

6. Air Quality Management 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

71 - 74

7. Work Programme 2018-19 
To consider the attached report 75 - 84

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up 
Actions 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors:  J Amos (Chair)
                     C J Barry (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: M Colbran, G Lewis and S Thomas

Co-optee(s): H Hopkins, H Jackson, H Powell and 
M Ellis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Active Travel 

Teithio Gweithredol 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform Scrutiny Committee regarding the work which 

has been carried out in relation to Active Travel. 
 
1.2 The report will feature to timetable of work carried out from the introduction of the Act 

through all the consultations to where we are now. 
 
1.3 The report gives an update in terms of the projects that will be delivered this financial 

year and the suite of projects that funding has been submitted to Welsh Government  
for funding: 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the information set out in 

the report. 
 
2.2 That the scrutiny committee identifies any further information they would like to 

receive as part of scrutiny’s forward plan 
 
2.3 That the scrutiny committee notes the contents of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written Thursday 21st February 2019 

Report Author Beth Jones and Cheryl Jones  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Date Tuesday 5th March 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In September 2014, Welsh Government introduced the Active Travel (Wales) Act 

2013, which was subsequently reported to Cabinet on the 15th January 2014. The 
‘Act’ made it a legal requirement for all local authorities in Wales to map and plan 
suitable routes aligned to Active Travel.  

 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The existing route maps are primarily intended to inform the public regarding 

accessing safe and suitable routes linked to active travel, these are routes already in 
existence. The identified routes will have to meet the standards set out in the Active 
Travel Design Guidance document.  The maps are intended to give pedestrians and 
cyclists suitable information so that they can make an informed decision about where 
to travel and how to get there.  In relation to this, the Council was awarded £6,000 to 
assist in the delivery of this piece of work. 

 
4.2 During the consultation stage a total of 27 routes were identified and assessed; all 

which scored the required 70% minimum threshold to be considered as an Active 
Travel Route. 

 
4.3 Electronic versions of the 27 maps along with an accompanying questionnaire were 

placed on the Cwm Taf Hub. This consultation exercise was completed by physical 
paper copies being made available within all of the County Borough’s Libraries, 
Leisure Centres as well as Cyfarthfa Museum. The views of neighbouring local 
authorities and other key regional and national stakeholders also sought as part of 
this exercise. 

 
4.4  A total of 114 completed questionnaires were received which resulted in an Active 

Travel Consultation Report being produced. In early 2016, the ‘report’, which 
included an overarching map, was submitted to Welsh Government which was 
subsequently approved and commended by WG later on that year.  

 
4.5 In terms of next steps, an exercise was carried out to develop an ‘Integrated Network 

Map’ (INM) that identified future active travel interventions which was submitted in 
November 2017. Under the ‘Act’ there was also a requirement for all Council’s to 
undertake an appropriate consultation and engagement exercise with stakeholders 
and the general public over a minimum of twelve-weeks. To assist the Council with 
this consultation exercise the Local Authority was awarded £4,000 to manage this 
process and collate findings / responses.  

 
4.6 Unfortunately, the timescale for the development and engagement on INM coincided 

with issues with the Council Website (virus) which inevitably had an adverse impact 
on response figures over that period.  This resulted in only 120 responses through 
the actual website and a further 60 responses from schools.   

 
4.7  Following on from the consultation exercise and submission of the findings / 

responses WG made the decision to reject the report and accompanying stipulating 
that further consultation was required.   

 

Page 6



4.8  In response to this, in April 2018 Council commissioned Capita to provide support 
with a further consultation and engagement exercise which commenced on the 16th 
April to the 9th July 2018. 

 
4.9 The additional consultation included the following:  
  

 Secondary school show of hands questionnaire which was distributed across 
four secondary schools  

 

 Online questionnaires which was live on the Council’s Website from the 16th 
April to the 9th July 2018 

 

 Several community engagement events were held throughout the County 
Borough 

 

 Stakeholder workshops, again throughout the County Borough. 
 

 Workshops for both Councillors and associated Council staff. 
 
4.10 Following the resubmission to Welsh Government they went on the formally approve 

the Council’s Integrated Network Map submission in November 2018. 
  
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 On the 1st May 2018, the Cabinet Secretary for Finance announced £60 million to 

active travel schemes as part of the Wales Infrastructure Plan which covered a 
three-year period. On the 3rd August 2018 the Minister announced that he was 
allocating £10.36 million to local authorities for active travel schemes for the year 
2018/2019. 

 
5.2 Only schemes which were identified on the Welsh Government INM approved list 

were considered for funding.  Eligible local authorities were able to submit two 
schemes; one under the Local Transport Fund (LTF), and another under the Local 
Transport Network Fund (LTNF). 

 
5.3 Taking into account that a scheme had to be fully delivered in this financial year, the 

Council agreed that the priority route would be “the Gutty” which runs from Quakers 
Yard to Treharris.  This route met the criteria for the funding which resulted in the 
Council successfully obtaining £165,000 to finance the works.  

 
5.4 As part of a proposed regional scheme under LTNF the Council offered to lead on 

the exploration of a collaborative project focussed on strategic improvements cross-
boundary active travel networks. Incidentally, the application submitted by the 
Council was successful which saw a further £200,000 being awarded to the 
collective local authorities. The scheme focusses on improving access to the 
proposed South East Wales Metro Stations and also exploring improvements to 
network signage, access barriers and potential bike hire facilities.  To support this 
the council commissioned Sustrans to undertake the works with the technical 
support from Blaenau Gwent CBC. 

 
 

Page 7



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Our overall aim is to have a comprehensive network of active travel routes that meet 

the required standards by Welsh Government, and to achieve this, the following 
projects have been submitted to WG for funding: 

 

 Afon Taf High School to Troedyrhiw Primary School - we have applied for 
£225,000 to deliver walking and cycling improvements between Troedyrhiw 
community primary school and Afon Taf High School, these will include traffic 
signal improvements, new pedestrian crossings footway improvements and 
improvements to the river walk. 

 

 Trevithick Trail (Tramroad), - the Council has applied for £140,000 to deliver 
improvements to the Trevethick Trail.  The project will include a dedicated 
Cycleway along the tramroad. 

 

 Gwaunfarren Primary School, the Council has applied for £161,000 to deliver 
improvements outside the school including the construction of a new footway, 
widening of the road, road markings controlled crossing a new splitter island. 

 

 In relation to the regional applications the Council has submitted a bid for 
£390,000. This will develop the continuation of the network signage/barrier 
study and also the development of an INM development pot to enable 
authorities across the region to bid in for development funding. 

 

 MTCBC has also bid for 4.1 million pounds on behalf of the south east wales 
region for the delivery of the Regional Transport Authority Metro Programme. 
Part of this funding will consist of the recruitment of two staff to manage the 
scheme. 

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 In terms of delivering on the priorities identified in the INM over the last 2 years the 

Council have made a good start on improving the network. Moving forward, the 
priorities for development will be: 

 

 Successful delivery of schemes against INM priorities  
 

 Explore greater connectivity to wider destination development and the new 
Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan 2019-20 

 

 Continue to identify schemes to enhance the INM and explore future funding 
 

 Raise the public profile and increase greater awareness of active travel via 
Council Website, social media and linking to schools. 

 

 
 
 
 Page 8



 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The Active travel act and the work being carried out has a positive impact on the fivr 
ways of working. 

 Best Start to life -  Available over the next 2 years active travel routes across Wales will 

connect  people’s home to schools, jobs and their local community with the aim of 
encouraging more people to walk or cycle.  

 
Working life - The Integrated Network map will be assessed every year and will create 

new active travel routes across Wales which will connect people’s home to schools, jobs and 
their local community with the aim of encouraging more people to walk or cycle. 
 
Environmental Well Being - The schemes objective is to improve quality of life particularly 
those living in disadvantaged and rural communities by delivering safe and easy to use 

transport to key facilities and services 
 
Living Well – The schemes objectives are to deliver quality health and care services 
for the future.  Promote good health and wellbeing for everyone and build healthier 
communities and better environments.  

 
 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER 
PLACE & TRANSFORMATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION 

AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Active Travel Wales Act 
2013 

 

2013 Unit 5  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Update on Destination Management / Diweddariad 
ar Reoli Cyrchfan 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Scrutiny Committee regarding the work that 
 the Community Regeneration Department have undertaken in relation to destination 
 development whilst informing Members of the progress made relating to Merthyr 
 Tydfil’s most recent Destination Management Plan (DMP) and proposals for a new 
 one. 
 
1.2 This report comprises of the progress made in implementing and evaluating the 
 impact of the current DMP and depicts the work undertaken in terms of stakeholder 
 engagement, product development, event management and updates on the journey 
 of the Tourist Information Centre (TIC) located at Trago. 
 
1.3  The report also features an update in terms of the development of the Council’s new 
 DMP whilst also bringing Members up-to-date regarding key destination 
 management related projects such as Cyfarthfa Park & Castle, Rock UK Summit 
 Centre, BikePark Wales as well as other associated developments.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the information set out in 
 the report.  
 
2.2 That the scrutiny committee identifies any further information they would like to 
 receive as part of Scrutiny's Forward Plan. 
 
2.3 That the scrutiny committee notes the contents of this report. 
 

Date Written Thursday 21st February 2019 

Report Author Ryan Barry & Lyndsey Handley 

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Committee Date Tuesday 5th March 2019 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Community Regeneration Department has been requested by the Scrutiny 
Committee to give an update on the progress made surrounding developing Merthyr 
Tydfil’s tourism infrastructure whilst also reporting on the impact that current 
Destination Management Plan has made on the region. 

 
3.2  The tourism economy is vitally important to Merthyr Tydfil, with the sector being a 

large employer of local people whilst also bringing in over £71m into the economy. 
Incidentally, over the last ten years the industry has continued to grow steadily – due 
specifically to the regions cultural heritage, increasing activity tourism offer and ideal 
location in terms of being an ideal ‘exploration hub’. Table 1 below outlines the 
annual growth of the sector since 2013: 

 
 

Table 1 – Growth of the tourism industry in Merthyr Tydfil with statistics obtained from Global Tourism Solutions (UK) Ltd 

 
 
3.3 In 2012, there was a directive from Welsh Government (Visit Wales) for each of the 

22 Local Authorities in Wales to develop their own Destination Management Plans 
so that they in turn could apply for grant finance to develop their own respective 
areas. In 2013, the Council developed our first DMP which was then proceeded by 
the development of a second ‘plan’ in 2016; covering a three-year period. 

 
3.4 A Destination Management Plan is a strategic document which is collaboratively 

produced in partnership with a range of stakeholders aiming to manage the visitor's 
experience over a set period. The DMP is a practical working document that 
articulates the roles and responsibilities of a range of stakeholders set against clear 
objectives whilst also outlining the future priorities for the region. 

 
3.5 With the development of the Council’s second DMP brought with it a greater focus 

surrounding the socio-economic importance of the tourism sector locally. The new 
DMP also saw the Community Regeneration Department secure residual Council 
funding to employ a dedicated Destination Management Coordinator to oversee the 
implementation of the new ‘plan’, engage with stakeholders, assist with the 

Page 12



development of new projects, support new and existing thematic groups and to 
represent Merthyr Tydfil at regional events and meetings. 

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Upon appointing a new Destination Management Coordinator work started on 
 implementing the current DMP and ensuring that key stakeholders understood and 
 embraced the documents ‘prioritises’. As part of the Coordinators role a number of 
 thematic groups were developed in order to drive the sector forward over the course 
 of the lifespan of the ‘plan’. 
 
4.2 Although there have been numerous occasions where the Council has 
 collaboratively worked with tourism businesses and stakeholders marketing events, 
 products and services the support / process was never cemented in a strategic 
 fashion.  Additionally, the previous Visit Merthyr Website had become outdated (nine 
 years old as of 2018) and the Council sparsely used their tourism social media 
 platforms (namely Facebook and Twitter). Therefore, the County Borough was not 
 maximising its marketing potential to prospective visitors and local people.  
 
4.3 After securing finance from Visit Wales in September 2016, the Council launched a 
 new activity tourism video which was developed in partnership with local activity 
 tourism providers. The video has been deemed a great success; profiting from nearly 
 50,000 views across all social media platforms (as of Wednesday 20th February 
 2019). 
 
4.4 Up until early 2015, Merthyr Tydfil had traditionally benefited from having a Tourist 

Information Centre (TIC) which had a dual purpose of dealing with requests from 
visitors and directly liaising with local tourism sector businesses. Unfortunately, in 
January 2015, the Local Authority decided to close the facility as part of its 
efficiencies programme leaving the County Borough with no TIC resource. 

 
4.5 Previously, events across the County Borough were mostly developed in isolation 
 with marketing of these occasions being uncoordinated. Furthermore, up until 
 recently large-scale event organisers were still having issues with meeting safety 
 standards and compliance thresholds set-out by the Council’s Event Safety Advisory 
 Group (ESAG). 
 
4.6 Prior to the employment of a new Destination Management Coordinator there was a 
 distinctive lack of synergy and joint working amongst Merthyr Tydfil’s tourism sector 
 businesses. This lack of collaborative working and subsequent sharing of resources 
 would have had an adverse impact on marketing figures and level of reach across 
 the sector in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The current Destination Management Plan is at the end of strategic lifespan with the 
 Community Regeneration Department currently going through a consultation period 
 with tourism sector businesses and key stakeholders to both assess the impact of 
 the current DMP and to ascertain what the regions priorities should be in preparation 
 for a new ‘plan’ which will be available in the Spring of 2019. 

Page 13



 
5.2 Part of the Destination Management Coordinator’s role was to engage with tourism 
 sector businesses and associated key stakeholders (Leisure Trust, Business 
 Improvement District, Heritage Trust etc.) in order to get them all working together 
 via dedicated working groups and to eventually share resources. The range of new 
 and existing groups are currently working well; predominantly due to the support or 
 the Destination Management Coordinator and other Community Regeneration Staff. 
 
5.3 The new Visit Merthyr Website was launched on the 21st April 2018 and has been 
 received really well by the sector, key stakeholders, internal departments and 
 potential visitors alike. The new website is now suitable for mobile phone use as the 
 site is mainly accessed by individual’s mobile phones rather than traditional PC’s or 
 iPads. In terms of social media growth in September 2018 the Community 
 Regeneration Department took over the direct management of the Council’s tourism 
 Facebook and Twitter pages; which has resulted in both platforms seeing a huge 
 increase in followers along with additional shares and retweets between the 
 Council’s platforms and local tourism sector businesses social media pages. 
 
5.4 In April 2018, the Council opened a Tourist Information Centre at Trago which 
 saw the employment of three Tourist Information Officers to meet and greet visitors 
 whilst also drive on all aspects of marketing of the County Borough. Unfortunately, in 
 January 2019 Council decided to centralise the TIC service within the main Civic 
 Centre building. As part of the TIC integration into the Civic Centre current ‘front of 
 house’ staff will receive training surrounding tourism related advice and guidance. 
 
5.5 In terms of Merthyr Tydfil events, officers from the Community Regeneration 
 Department are activity involved in the development and coordination of large-scale 
 events across the County Borough. Officers are also aligned to the ESAG Team and 
 have assisted with the development and implementation of a new ‘Events 
 Framework’ which sees event promoters now completing an application for each 
 event that they wish to run. Each application is formally assessed by ESAG to 
 ensure all safety, consultation, noise and clean-up processes are adhered to; well in 
 advance of each event taking place.   
 
5.6 With an improved coordination of large-scale Merthyr Tydfil events the Community 
 Regeneration Department has played an integral role in developing a number of 
 funding applications which has resulted in key organisations obtaining substantial 
 amounts of grant finance to assist with running events. Table 2 below focusses on 
 specific events held in 2018 and depicts the name of each event, event organiser, 
 level of funding secured / received and attendance figures. 
 
 
Name of Event: Event Organiser: Funding Secured: Attendance Figures: 

Merthyr Rising  Merthyr Rising CIC £50,000 7,000 

Man Engine MTCBC/ MT Leisure Trust £42,034 5,172 

* Merthyr Tydfil Challenge  Merthyr Running Club / Inspire £31,192 378 (competitors) 

* The Merthyr Tydfil Challenge is a two year programme of activity events with still one event remaining  

 
Table 2 – Breakdown of 2018 Merthyr Tydfil Events 

 
 
 

Page 14



5.7 Over the last ten months the Community Regeneration Department has been 
 working with RCTCBC in order to better understand the tourism sector businesses 
 across the Cwm Taf region and potential opportunities to link local residents to 
 training, employment and volunteering. MTCBC staff led on a Diagnostic Review 
 exercise which saw 129 tourism business asked to complete a questionnaire about 
 their business; which in turn 87 businesses responded (a 67% response rate across 
 Cwm Taf). A Cwm Taf Report on the tourism sector is currently being written by the 
 Council’s Community Regeneration Department which will be presented to the Public 
 Service Board (PSB) in early Spring 2019. 
 
5.8 The Community Regeneration Department has gained conditional approval for a new 
 transnational Atlantic Area project entitled Trail Gazers. The project primarily 
 focusses on Taff Trail and the subsequent socio-economic impact that the tourism 
 feature has on those businesses and communities that reside adjacent to the trail. 
 The three year, €300,000 project has partners from Scotland, Ireland, England, 
 France and Spain and is expected to start in mid-2019.  
 
5.9 The Council will soon trial a Blogger / Vlogger visit to key activity tourism sites in 
 Merthyr Tydfil over a weekend in March 2019. The weekend, developed in 
 partnership with BikePark Wales, Rock UK Summit Centre and Parkwood Outdoors 
 Dolygaer will see 5-8 influential online Bloggers and Vloggers visit the three sites 
 from Friday 15th to Sunday 17th March 2019. The core principle of the pilot initiative is 
 give those 5-8 people the opportunity to experience Merthyr Tydfil’s activity tourism 
 offer and for them to showcases their experiences to their respective followers over 
 the course of that particular weekend and weeks afterwards. A report will be 
 developed after the event to gauge impact and reach. 
 
5.10 The principles of ‘destination management’ is broad enough that its sees key officers 
 from within the Community Regeneration Department work on key, strategic projects 
 across the County Borough. Below are concise updates on some of the key projects 
 aligned to the current and new Destination Management Plan: 
 
 
Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Charette and Crucible Report: 
 
In October 2017, the Council along with the Design Commission for Wales and Cardiff 
University convened a multi-disciplinary team to consider how Cyfarthfa Castle and its 
extended landscape and built heritage could be developed / enhanced in order to become 
an international quality visitor destination. A report was produced (The Crucible) that 
summarised the ideas from the Charrette and made recommendations in terms of the 
attractions development.  
 
Based on the content written within the Crucible Report, the development of a masterplan 
was commissioned which later informed additional site and context studies which ran 
parallel to a business plan being developed for Cyfarthfa Park. Upon developing the 
materplan it was decided to suspend a Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) application for the 
Castle to ensure the best and most appropriate design is created. In addition, the 
department is on course to submit a HLF Parks for People 2 application in August 2019 
which focusses on capital developments, better interpretation, improved access and the 
development of activity plans   
 
 

Page 15



Rock UK Summit Centre: 
 
On Friday 22nd February 2019 Rock UK Summit Centre held its official opening of the 
centre by His Royal Highness The Prince of Wales. The event was an acclamation of years 
of work which saw the department assist Rock UK Summit Centre secure millions of 
pounds of funding, coordinate ‘Meet the Contractor’ days linked to the actual refurbishment  
and led on the development and implementation of the businesses training and 
employment solutions aligned to local people. 
 
BikePark Wales: 
 
The business has benefitted from ongoing support from the department to look into 
expanding the physical infrastructure of the business by widen the road leading up to the 
summit of the mountain, adding a further building onsite and looking into a future 
accommodation provision.    
 
Merthyr – Abernant Tunnel Development: 
 
The Council, in partnership with RCTCBC were successful in obtaining £125,000 from the 
Local Transport Fund (LTF) in order to undertake feasibility and scoping works relating to 
the reopening of the Merthyr – Abernant Tunnel. The finance will be utilised to look at 
possible economic models, potential ownership, site safety, community consultation and 
access with a view of developing the historical asset into both a transport route between the 
two County Borough’s and promoting the site as a tourism attraction. 
 
Trago Phase 2: 
 
The Community Regeneration Department are looking to re-engage with senior staff at 
Trago with planning out and developing the premise for their Phase Two development 
which is situated west of the store on the upper tier of their land. Plans are still in the 
scoping out stage with the business hoping to present their intentions later on this year. 
 
Trails Infrastructure Development: 
 
The Council has been successful in obtaining £165,000 from Welsh Government’s Active 
Travel Fund which will be aligned to improvements to the Gutty which runs from Quakers 
Yard to Treharris. In addition, the department has continued to improve the current trails 
infrastructure and has recently undertaken a review audit on trial signage and barriers. 
 
Accommodation Developments: 
 
Over the last ten years the accommodation sector in Merthyr Tydfil has nearly doubled in 
size, a trend that continues to grow with three accommodation businesses opening up in 
2018. Similarly, the department has worked with a number of existing accommodation 
businesses in order to enhance or diversify their facilities; which has resulted in additional 
employment, training and volunteering opportunities being made available to local people. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 In the Spring of 2019 Merthyr Tydfil will have a new Destination Management Plan 
 which would have captured the views of tourism sector businesses, associated 
 stakeholders and Council representatives. In terms of the DMP’s lifespan the  
 department are currently considering developing a two-year plan instead of a 
 traditional three-year plan so that the end date (2020) will coincide with the end of 
 Wales’ national tourism strategy (Partnership for Growth 2014-20). The rationale 
 behind a two-year ‘plan’ should ensure that the Council’s proposed 4th DMP will 
 hopefully ‘chime’ with Visit Wales’s new national strategy post 2020. 
 
6.2 It is envisaged that in Spring 2019 the new DMP will be ratified by Council and 
 launched as part of a suite of new tourism related products that the Community 
 Regeneration Department are currently working on. The products planning on being 
 launched include a new Visitor Guide, Visit Merthyr App with plans to develop new 
 video content – all in collaboration with tourism sector business and key 
 stakeholders.  
 
6.3 The current suite of new and existing Destination Management Sub Groups will 
 continue to flourish and make progress regarding collaborative initiatives and 
 projects that will positively impact the tourism industry and visitor figures across the 
 County Borough.  
 
6.4 The new Visit Merthyr Website will continue to evolve and see its users figures grow. 
 Additional work and statistics will be pulled from the website periodically in order to 
 benchmark the demographics of its users, where they live, how they access the site 
 and what pages they visit. In terms of social media platforms these will also grow 
 with the Council also looking to add a new Visit Merthyr Instagram account.  
 
6.5 The transition of the TIC moving from its existing building in Trago to the One Stop 
 Shop located at the Civic Centre is seamless with hopefully very little impact in terms 
 of the core principles of its role (tourism advice). Consequently, there is an 
 understanding that the TIC closure will adversely impact other aspects of the service 
 – namely marketing, website development and sales, however, the Community 
 Regeneration Department will look to absorb the majority of the work.  
 
6.6  The number of large-scale Events, coordinated in a professional and socio-
 economically beneficial manner will continue to grow across the County Borough. 
 The marketing of all events will be publicised by various partners / stakeholders in 
 order to maximise impact and visitor figures. In terms of smaller events, the 
 Community Regeneration Department will also continue to support and market those 
 occasions.   
 
6.7 The Cwm Taf Public Service Board will soon have accepted the Tourism Sector 
 Diagnostic Review Report findings with work starting to find links for local people to 
 gain employment, training or volunteering opportunities in the sector. More work will 
 be undertaken at the end of 2019 to gain more information from the sector across 
 the Cwm Taf region which will inevitably present enhanced information and 
 additional prospects for local residents. 
 
 

Page 17



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 The Community Regeneration Department are currently in the first stages of 
 assessing the impact of our most recent DMP and collating the feedback. Next steps 
 include running 2-3 consultation events relating for future priorities, implementing a 
 wider email consultation exercise, collating all information and finally developing a 
 new DMP thereafter. The proposed new DMP will be presented to full Council in 
 order to be ratified prior to being presented within the wider public realm. 
 
7.2 The Destination Management Coordinator is currently in the process of looking at a 
 suitable dates for the Council’s annual Merthyr Tydfil Destination Day. In Addition, 
 the annual Destination Day will see update presentations from our local tourism 
 businesses as well as wider national stakeholders such as Visit Wales. 
 
7.3 The Destination Management Coordinator will soon set-out all 2019 meeting dates 
 for all associated Destination Management Sub Groups and the overarching 
 Destination Management Partnership so that partners and internal Council staff can 
 diarise accordingly.  
 
7.4  The Community Regeneration Department will continue to work closely with the 
 Council’s Web Development and Corporate Communications Teams in order to 
 evolve our current Visit Merthyr Website and social media platforms. Furthermore, 
 the department will implement a mechanism which will capture our social media stats 
 on a bi-monthly basis which will be presented in our departmental Highlight Reports.    
 
7.5 Work will need to be undertaken in terms of relocating the TIC equipment to the Civic 
 Centre and taking the actual TIC building at Trago back to ‘core and shell’. The 
 Destination Management Coordinator will continue to assess the levels of tourism 
 brochures at the Civic Centre over the course of the year to replenish stock when 
 required.   
 
7.6 Additional work will soon be undertaken by the department to develop an events 
 programme covering the next 2-3 years. Strategic alignment and support can then 
 be given based on the need of the event organiser with each event lead going 
 through the ESAG Event Framework process.  
 
7.7 Initial work needs to be undertaken to finalise the Cwm Taf Diagnostic Review 
 Report on the Tourism Sector which will then need to be ratified to the Cwm Taf 
 PSB. In addition, the Community Regeneration Department will look to present the 
 findings of our recent Diagnostic Review exercise with plans on obtaining an 
 improved response rate in late 2019. 
 
 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The Destination Management Plan is integral to the each of the Local Authority's 
 Corporate Priorities; with Priority Area 5 - Economic Development being the most 
 specific to the work of the Community Regeneration Department.  
 
 

Page 18



8.2 In relation to Priority Area 1 - Raising standards of attainment, the document will 
 focus its attention on working with internal departments and key stakeholders such 
 as Merthyr Tydfil College and Tydfil Training in order to provide training opportunities 
 relevant to the need of the area.  
 
8.3 With regards to the DMP's impact on improving inclusion & wellbeing in the County 
 Borough the proposed Destination Management Partnership will look at mechanisms 
 to which we can again work with colleagues from internal teams and stakeholders to 
 develop an environment which promotes the opportunity for independent living in the 
 community, active lifestyles through quality facilities (paid and free) and meets the 
 needs of vulnerable children by liaising with colleagues from national programmes 
 such as Flying Start and Families First. 
 
8.4 Economic growth is our key objective within the Community Regeneration 
 Department and by the DMP focussing its attentions on Economic Development and 
 the 'employability' agenda we have an excellent resource to develop both fields 
 further over the next three years. The 'Partnership' will consider all aspects of 
 Economic Growth ranging from inward investment, job creation, business expansion 
 and stimulating entrepreneurship across the County Borough.     
 
8.5 The 'Destination Management Partnership' will look to develop a sustainable 
 environment in collaboration with  internal colleagues with an overall aim of ensuring 
 that the people of Merthyr Tydfil live in communities that are sustainable, clean and 
 energy efficient. Therefore, the DMP will actively work toward protecting our 
 environment with an extensive range of planned activities. These range from 
 reducing pollution and the amount of waste sent to landfill to protecting areas of 
 parkland, wildlife reserves and biodiversity. 
 
 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER 
PLACE & TRANSFORMATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Destination 

Management Plan 
2016-18 

 

 
September 2016 

 
Attached 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Destination Management Plan
2016-2018

Merthyr Tydfil

P
age 21



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan2

CONTENTS

1. FOREWORD - Mr Gareth Chapman - Chief Executive, Merthyr Tydfil CBC   ...........................................................   3

2. INTRODUCTION TO DESTINATION MANAGEMENT   ................................................................................................   4

 2.1 What is a Destination Management Plan?   ............................................................................................   4

 2.2 A Collaborative Approach - The Destination Management Partnership   .................................................  4

 2.3 Strategic Context   .................................................................................................................................   5

 2.4 Background of Tourism in Merthyr Tydfil   ..............................................................................................   5

3. PROGRESS FROM 2013 TO 2015   ......................................................................................................................   6

 3.1 Impact of the Initial Destination Management Plan   ............................................................................   6

 3.2 Key Projects 2013-15 - Product Development   ....................................................................................   7

 3.3 Key Projects 2013-15 - Destination Development  ...............................................................................   9

4. PRIORITIES FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL 2016-18   ....................................................................................................   11

 4.1 Planned Infrastructure Developments 2016-18   ................................................................................   11

 4.2 Themes Going Forward   ......................................................................................................................   13

5. SWOT ANALYSIS   ............................................................................................................................................   15

6. ACTION PLAN   .................................................................................................................................................   18

P
age 22



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 3

1. FOREWORD

Tourism is vitally important to the 
economy of Merthyr Tydfil and offers huge 
opportunities as a destination through our 
natural environment, the region’s unique 
history and its excellent geographical 
location. Much of the analysis set out in 
the previous Destination Management 
Plan (DMP) is still relevant - however, it is 
now time to review this in light of changing 
circumstances and new opportunities and 
re-evaluate the progress that has been 
made to date.

The new Merthyr Tydfil Destination 
Management Plan has been subject to 
extensive consultation and engagement 
with public, private and third sector 
organisations. The priorities of the plan 
will be delivered in partnership with local 
stakeholders to establish a destination 
that demonstrates a commitment to 
partnership working. To deliver on the 
DMP, everybody has a part to play in 
ensuring Merthyr Tydfil sustains its 
position as a diverse and welcoming visitor 
destination in which people wish to live, 
visit and enjoy.

The previous DMP for Merthyr Tydfil 
was produced back in 2013 and has 
served us well. This period has seen the 
accommodation sector in particular grow 
significantly in terms of numbers. Our 
natural environment has given rise to a 
thriving activity tourism offer which has 
seen more international visitors come 
to the region. We are proud to say that 
BikePark Wales has matured into a truly 

world class facility over the last few years 
with planned developments for Rock 
UK Summit Centre surely putting the 
attraction in a similar stature. In addition, 
we are confident that the new facilities 
such as Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer, 
situated near Pontsticill, will strengthen 
this sector further. Our suite of activity 
tourism opportunities, combined with our 
unique cultural heritage offer, made up 
of attractions such as Cyfarthfa Park & 
Museum and our Welsh cultural centre 
- Canolfan Soar, will undoubtedly ensure 
that Merthyr Tydfil sustains its position as 
a first class visitor destination.

Merthyr Tydfil has a huge amount to 
offer visitors, but we are still an evolving 
destination and are always looking for 
ways in which to improve our current 
tourism offer. This new DMP and 
complementary Action Plan, which sets 
out priorities for delivery, provides a 
blueprint for the next three years.

Gareth Chapman 
OStJ., DL., LLM., 
C.Mgr., DBA., 
DipLG., FCMI., 
Solicitor

Chief Executive 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council

P
age 23



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan4

2. INTRODUCTION TO DESTINATION MANAGEMENT:

2.1 WHAT IS A DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PLAN?

A Destination Management Plan (DMP) is a strategic 
document collaboratively produced with a range of 
stakeholders aiming to manage a region over a set period. 
The DMP is intended to be a practical working document 
that articulates the roles and responsibilities of a range 
of stakeholders set against clear objectives identified in 
the Action Plan and positively contributes to the visitor’s 
experience.

The DMP sets out a vision for Merthyr Tydfil’s future, 
exploring connectivity linked directly to the experience 
of both visitors and residents. The document will cover 
a three-year period, and in doing so, give all those 
concerned with tourism in the region a formalised 
timeframe to develop, implement and evaluate their work 
whilst gaining an insight into how a collaborative approach 
to ‘Destination Management’ can have a positive impact 
on a region like Merthyr Tydfil. 

At a national level, the development and evolution of the 
tourism sector has been recognised by Welsh Government 
as one of the nine key sectors of the economy. Its strategy 
for tourism 2013-20, ‘Partnership for Growth’, identifies 
‘Destination Management’ as being fundamental in 
improving the appeal of County Borough’s throughout 
Wales and emphasises the importance of outdoor tourism, 
the environment, heritage, culture and events to the 
Welsh economy. 

Destination Merthyr Tydfil is determined to see the 
provision of a high quality visitor experience which 
exceeds the expectations of our visitors, positively 
influencing people’s views of the area (and Wales in 
general), ensuring repeat visits and recommendations 
thereafter. 

2.2  A COLLABORATIVE APPROACH - THE DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PARTNERSHIP:

To implement, manage and evaluate the impact of the 
Destination Management Plan, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council will co-ordinate the varied range of 
stakeholders and internal departments set-out in the 
‘Action Plan’. This collaboration of the Local Authority 
and key stakeholders will be called the Destination 
Management Partnership. 

Destination Management means long-term collaboration 
between stakeholders such as the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust, tourist attractions, accommodation providers, 
businesses, traders and residents – to ensure the best 
possible visitor experience, as well as the evolution and 
sustainability of the destination. It is essential that all 
stakeholders work in partnership to make sure there are 
no gaps or failures in the provision and that the package is 
professional and covers everything required by the visitor. 

Stakeholders will again commit to handing pre-determined 
strategic issues in servicing visitor needs and by the Local 
Authority managing a tool such as a new Destination 
Management Plan, which invaluable helps both 
businesses and organisations to visualise the complete 
visitor ‘journey’ can help achieve Merthyr Tydfil becoming 
a first class tourism destination.

P
age 24



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 5

2.3 STRATEGIC CONTEXT:

Visit Wales understand that making a destination work 
effectively from a visitor’s perspective is essential to 
destination management. For a destination to work it 
needs buy-in from all stakeholders involved, working in 
partnership to make sure there are no gaps or failures in 
the provision. 

The Local Authority understands the importance of 
evolving its current Destination Management Plan, 
ensuring it aligns itself to our Corporate Priorities and 
Local Development Plan. Furthermore, MTCBC has 
identified the DMP as a priority going forward, having 
strategically linked its Action Plan to our Corporate Plan 
and embedded it into both our Economic Growth Plan and 
Strategic Programme, which includes the Vibrant & Viable 
Places and EU-funded programmes.

Some of the important pieces that make up the entire 
destination include:

•   Visitor information provided by the Local Authority and 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust

•   Accommodation, attractions and activity development

•   Cultural and countryside experiences by localised and 
national organisations

•   Transport links and maintenance of all forms of travel 
routes across the County Borough

•   Car parking, toilets and public buildings / spaces

•   Developing a diverse, viable and vibrant economy

•   Interaction with the host communities

MTCBC and our stakeholders knowing and understanding 
how the above pieces fit together is key to the partnership 
achieving an effective Destination Management Plan.

2.4 BACKGROUND OF TOURISM IN MERTHYR TYDFIL:

The tourism industry is recognised as being a vital 
contributor to the Merthyr Tydfil economy and in recent 
years has seen the sector grow with the emergence of 
activity tourism in the area coupled with the regions 
significant industrial past and historical value. 

The town is ideally situated at the crossroads of Wales’s 
major transport road the A470 and the A465, the main 
artery that links Swansea to the Midlands (England). 
With an excellent central location, Merthyr Tydfil is a 
perfect base for exploring the Valleys, Brecon Beacons 
National Park, Cardiff and Swansea. Furthermore, the 
town is less than two hours from Birmingham, Bristol, 
Bath, Cheltenham, Gloucester, Worcester, Hereford and 
Swindon. 

The majority of current visitors to Merthyr Tydfil are 
considered day visitors, making up 84% of the visits to 
the County Borough, compared to 9% who stay with 
friends / family, and the remaining 7% that reside at 
local accommodation providers. The majority of day 
visitors come to Merthyr Tydfil to experience the area’s 
cultural heritage, activities, various attractions and shops. 
Alternatively, the overnight visitors who stay in the County 
Borough tend to use primary attractions such as BikePark 
Wales, Rock UK Summit Centre, Brecon Mountain 
Railway and Cyfarthfa Park & Museum, whilst again using 
Merthyr Tydfil’s ideal location as a base to explore the 
surrounding areas. 

P
age 25



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan6

3. PROGRESS FROM 2013 TO 2015:

3.1 IMPACT OF THE INITIAL DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PLAN:

Following the implementation of Merthyr 
Tydfil’s initial Destination Management 
Plan in 2013, the Local Authority co-
ordinated the delivery of the Action Plan 
which involved managing / developing 
the tourism infrastructure, overseeing 
a number of significant projects and 
encouraging substantial investment into 
the area; all in partnership with our key 
stakeholders. 

The work over this period has certainly 
made Merthyr Tydfil a more sustainable 
tourism destination, created jobs, 
attracted inward investment and afforded 
businesses the opportunity to take 
advantage of the economic benefits 
associated with being situated in an 
evolving, first class visitor destination.

P
age 26



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 7

3.2 KEY PROJECTS 2013-15 - PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT:

Project Description Funding

BikePark Wales Since opening in 2013, BikePark Wales has fast become a key attraction in the area, strengthening 
Merthyr Tydfil’s position as one of the most dynamic activity tourism destinations in Wales. Recognised 
as Europe’s only year-round, purpose-built, gravity trail centre. To date, BikePark Wales has seen over 
155,000 people visit the facility, with a large proportion of these being international visitors. During the 
implementation of our initial DMP, the Local Authority recognised the strength that the centre brings to 
the region, and in doing so arranged for the Directors of the company to familiarise themselves with other 
tourism sector businesses and attractions in the County Borough in order to promote the whole of Merthyr 
Tydfil to its visitors.

•   Private investment

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valley’s Programme funding

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area The Destination Management Partnership has significantly enhanced the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area through 
a number of strategic projects whilst adhering to a definitive Conservation Area Management Plan. During 
the initial implementation of the original DMP, the Local Authority successfully secured HLF funding to 
develop the key attraction, assisting it in becoming Wales’s third most popular free tourist attraction. The 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area emphasises its educational qualities too, becoming a key resource to both schools 
and visitors alike and depicting the story of Merthyr Tydfil’s industrial using the attractions Grade I* listed 
buildings and Grade II* listed park and gardens. In doing so, the facility has seen an increase in visitors 
over the last three years.

•   Heritage Lottery Fund

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

•   CADW

•   Welsh Government

•   Valleys Regional Park Programme

•   Vibrant and Viable Places Programme

P
age 27



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan8

Project Description Funding

Cyfarthfa Leat and  
Old Gurnos Tramway

This £1.6m scheme focussed on the restoration of the Leat ancient watercourse structure, preventing its 
collapse and ensuring the ancient watercourse continues to supply water to Cyfarthfa Lake. The attraction 
is recognised as being a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), providing the varied habitat for both 
plants and animal life. The project redeveloped the tramway that runs adjacent to the Leat, utilising the 
original stone sleepers that still hold visible imprints of the original tramway. The project was successfully 
launched in 2013 and received over 30,000 visitors in its first year of opening.

•   Valleys Regional Park Programme

•   CADW

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

Cyfarthfa Park The £3.3m transformation of Cyfarthfa Park commenced back in 2012 and saw Merthyr Tydfil’s key 
visitor destination restored with a mix of capital works, vital renovation of the surrounding landscape 
and complementary programme of coordinated activities for visitors and volunteers. The project saw 
the enhancement of the park’s key heritage features which included improved interpretation, increased 
access to its many paths and upgrading its visitor facilities. The overall project has enabled the park to 
increase its current heritage tourism offer whilst advancing its volunteering schemes across the facility.

•   Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   Heads of the Valleys Programme

•   CADW

P
age 28



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 9

3.3 KEY PROJECTS 2013-15 - DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT:

Project Description Funding

River Taff Central Link The River Taff Central Link (Gyratory System) was officially launched in 2014 with the aim of the new road 
system to improve access to the town, reduce congestion, boost visitor numbers, and increase business 
prosperity in Merthyr Tydfil town centre through inward investment and employment opportunities. The 
project ensures a constant flow of traffic, priority lanes for buses and improved links to the Railway Station 
and proposed new Bus Station.

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   ERDF

•  Heads of the Valley Programme

Parc Taf Bargoed 
Improvements

The Taff Bargoed Hydro Scheme’s core aim was to provide an income to fund the long term management 
and maintenance of the park. The Friends of Taff Bargoed Group had the idea of exploring the hydro-
electrical potential of the site and, following an assessment of the cascade, a grant from Environment 
Wales was secured for a feasibility study. The £500,000 build of this project has been funded through loan 
finance from Welsh Government, administered by the Energy Savings Trust.

•   Environment Wales

•   Welsh Government

P
age 29



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan10

Project Description Funding

Accommodation 
Improvements 

The implementation of Merthyr Tydfil’s initial Destination Management Plan saw the Local Authority work 
directly with potential tourism sector businesses. One of the areas that saw huge growth over the term of 
the first DMP was the accommodation sector, which saw eight new accommodation businesses establish 
themselves in the region, as a direct consequence of the amount of tourism development taking place 
across the locality. 

•   Tourism Investment Fund

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Heads of the Valleys funding

•   Private investment

•   Valleys Regional Park funding

Merthyr Tydfil Town 
Centre Redevelopment

In 2012, the Local Authority secured £25m to revitalise the town centre with the aim of increasing visitor 
numbers and business prosperity. The scheme helped transform the town with projects like the restoration 
of the Old Town Hall (now called The Redhouse) and the highly successful new community space at 
Penderyn Square, which has created a vibrant event space for the Town Centre and attracts a significant 
number of people to Merthyr Tydfil since opening in 2014. Another major project affiliated with the 
revitalisation of the Town Centre is Llys Janice Rowlands, located in the Café Quarter and subsequently 
opened in May 2013. This Town Centre Regeneration Programme has increased visitors to the town, 
created significant infrastructure development and enabled partnership working with local stakeholders.

•   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

•   Welsh Government

•   ERDF

•   Heads of the Valley Programme

•   HLF

Treharris Town Centre 
Redevelopment

A new pedestrian-friendly square, which is situated on the old Palace Cinema site in Treharris, has been 
developed as part of the Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme. It will serve as an open space in the 
centre of the village and retains the key feature of the amphitheatre. The open space can be used for 
events and additional parking.

•   ERDF

•   Welsh Government

•   Heads of the Valleys

•   Arts Council for Wales

•   Merthyr Tydfil CBC

P
age 30



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 11

4. PRIORITIES FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL 2016-18:

4.1 PLANNED INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENTS 2016-18:

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area:

The Cyfarthfa Heritage Area is the result of three separate 
projects and plans to ensure the area’s protection of 
its historical assets and its subsequent appreciation by 
the general public. A designated ‘masterplan’ has been 
professionally developed to inform the Local Authority 
regarding the future management of Cyfarthfa Castle, 
Park and Ironworks - which in turn will have a significant 
impact on the area’s value to the local community and 
visitors whilst leading on the enhancement of the overall 
attraction, as well as its conservation for generations to 
come. Plans are in place to redevelop a large proportion 
of Cyfarthfa Castle to incorporate a new Museum Learning 
Zone, Collections Store, Research Centre and Enterprise 
Centre on the first floor. With regards to the park itself, 
consideration is being given to revamping all entrances, 
boundaries, footpaths and key buildings, along with 
developing a new forecourt at the front and undertaking 
landscaping projects throughout. Lastly, the Merthyr Tydfil 
Heritage Regeneration Trust is currently looking into the 
feasibility of building a full-size working replica of Richard 
Trevithick’s Penydarren Locomotive and situating it 
outside the Cyfarthfa Furnaces.

P
age 31



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan12

Rock UK Summit Centre:

The facility will go through an extensive phase of 
redevelopment over the next two years with plans to 
develop a fully catered, 100-bed multi-activity residential 
centre on the grounds. Also, the facility will benefit from a 
new bike skills course, gym, café and children’s play area. 
Rock UK Summit Centre will also use the local area in the 
southern end of Merthyr Tydfil to run additional adventure 
activities.

Parkwood Leisure Dolygaer:

The previously Local Authority-owned Dolygaer Outdoor 
Activity Centre was purchased in 2015 by Parkwood 
Outdoors, which has an excellent track record of 
developing and managing leisure facilitates throughout the 
UK. Parkwood Outdoors will look to work with MTCBC and 
key stakeholders with a view to redeveloping the whole 
infrastructure in a phased approach. Work has already 
taken place to add extra signage throughout the County 
Borough to assist visitors in finding the Activity Centre 
with the organisation also funding a full refurbishment 
of the old Caretaker’s Bungalow, turning it into a 4 Star 
self-catering cottage. Plans are now in place to remodel 
the old office block, turning the facility into six large, self-
catering ensuite rooms. Additionally, Parkwood Outdoors 
will invest heavily in a total redevelopment of its current 
reception area and café and look to introduce a suite of 
new outdoor activities in 2017. P

age 32



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 13

4.2 THEMES GOING FORWARD:

Marketing, Publicity and Perception Changing:

With technologies constantly changing and the tourism sector evolving, Local Authorities, 
stakeholders and subsequent businesses need to adapt their respective marketing 
techniques to ensure that they broadcast their key messages to an ever-expanding 
audience. The Local Authority has always managed its own marketing campaigns and 
joined-up the key messages from our tourism sector businesses, usually in a traditional 
Visit Merthyr Guide and Website. However, these forms of marketing tools are needing 
to be updated as technologies change, and therefore MTCBC has already started 
developing a new Visit Merthyr Website which will be mobile phone friendly (IOS and 
Android).

The Local Authority will also adapt to current tourism trends surrounding creative 
communication and plans to launch its new Destination Merthyr Tydfil video in early 
2016, focussed primarily around activity tourism, with a further cultural heritage video 
being developed by mid-2016. Additionally, the Local Authority, along with its tourism 
sector businesses, needs to recognise the prominence associated with social media and 
the weight it can add to both the promotion of a region and the sector overall.

Over the next three years, the Destination Management Partnership will undertake a 
research exercise in order to scope out the demographics of all our visitors (day and 
overnight) with a view of gaining a better understanding of who our target market are, 
where they reside, what they have done in the area and their perceptions of their visit – 
all important factors to the sector progressing. 

Another important target group that the DMP will look to focus its attention on will be local 
residents and those potential visitors residing in those Local Authorities situated next to 
Merthyr Tydfil. Local residents can make an important contribution to the sector and the 
Partnership recognises that by working with attractions in the area to encourage local 
people to visit and try their activities, it will have both a financial and societal benefit for 
everyone – all year round. 

P
age 33



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan14

Activity Tourism:

The importance of activity tourism to the local economy 
has grown immensely over the last three years with the 
construction of BikePark Wales and evolution of Rock UK 
Summit Centre, Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer and the 
substantial trail infrastructure development. The region is 
fast becoming a hub for activity tourism and is recognised 
as being one of the most desirable regions in Wales in 
terms of adventure tourism. The Destination Management 
Partnership will also focus its attention on the continued 
support of other activity-orientated businesses and 
organisations such as the County Borough’s two golf 
clubs, two angling associations and all other sporting 
affiliations across the region. The DMP will look to develop 
the sector further, working directly with attractions and 
recreational organisations in a collaborative manner with 
a view to progressing activity tourism-based campaigns  
and assisting stakeholders with the pursuit of bringing 
nationally and internationally recognised events to the 
region.

Heritage & Culture:

Merthyr Tydfil, as a town - can boast a history as engaging 
and colourful as most major cities. The County Borough 
is steeped in heritage, which is a key economic driver 
that attracts visitors all year round and is integral to the 
tourism economy. The offer is strong, with attractions 
like Cyfarthfa Castle & Museum, Cyfarthfa Ironworks 
and Ynysfach Engine House, complemented by sites of 
historical significance such as Cefn and Ponsarn Viaducts, 
Cyfarthfa Leat and Tramway and Pontygwaith Bridge. 
Merthyr Tydfil has an array of historic walking and cycling 
paths and bridleways ranging from the opportunity to walk 
along the route of the first ever steam locomotive journey 
along the Trevithick Trail to the possibility of travelling the 
length of the iconic Taff Trail, allowing users to stop off 
at many of Merthyr Tydfil’s historic villages. Realistically, 
the list is endless - and so are the opportunities to learn 
and explore. The Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management 
Plan will help stakeholders set a vision for the region, 
maximising further on the potential of heritage tourism 
and its economic impact. 

Trails Development:

Merthyr Tydfil has an array of trails that run the breadth and 
depth of the County Borough which interlink villages and 
sites of interest. The Destination Management Partnership 
will look to adhere to Welsh Government’s Active Travel 
(Wales) Act 2013, considering improvements to our 
current trail infrastructure and the identification of new 
routes for future use. The Local Authority will continue to 
work with stakeholders to evolve the current maintenance 
plan for the region’s main trails, conduct annual audits to 
identify problems and enhancement opportunities whilst 
focussing on linking each of Merthyr Tydfil’s key attractions. 
The ‘Partnership’ will make considerations relating to 
the proposed dualling of the A465 which should see 
improvements to the National Cycle Network Route 46. 
The trails themselves are becoming an increasing resource 
in terms of staging events and over the course of the next 
three years look to add to its portfolio of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Half Marathon and San Domenico Run. Additionally, the 
Destination Management Partnership will still continue its 
management of the trails, proactively reacting to instances 
of fly tipping and pot holes.

P
age 34



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 15

5. SWOT ANALYSIS: 

STRENGTHS: WEAKNESSES:

•   Great balance of rural and town centre - countryside and urban

•   Attractive range of serviced and self-catering accommodation providers in the area

•   Unique cultural heritage offer – an historically significant town 

•   Strong activity tourism component 

•   Well-established network of trails for walking, cycling and horse-riding across the 
County Borough

•   Ideally situated at the crossroads of the A470 and A465

•   Well-established local tourism networks and strong links with the business community

•   Local Authority has excellent track record of securing EU and transnational finance

•   Excellent retail offer (town centre and Cyfarthfa Retail Park)

•   New marketing campaign for activity tourism and heritage (Destination Merthyr video, 
new website and guide)

•   MTCBC has extensive relationships with many major partners and stakeholders

•   Great track record of developing major growth products. i.e. Cyfarthfa Park, Caste and 
BikePark Wales

•   The promotion of the Welsh language through dedicated mechanisms in collaboration 
with Canolfan Soar

•   No Tourist Information Centre 

•   Signage relatively weak for some tourism sector businesses

•   Restricted budget allocation for tourism by the Local Authority

•   Night time offer comparatively small

•   Existing problems with litter, vandalism and dereliction

•   Some tourism sector business websites need updating to conform with technological 
advances, with others needing social media sites

•   Wi-Fi coverage across the business community weak

•   Lack of business advice to promote effective digital marketing 

•   No major high quality hotel in the area

•   Few large-scale indoor attractions 

P
age 35



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan16

OPPORTUNITIES: THREATS:

•   Emerging quality food / local produce offer

•   Building upon current event programme

•   Increasing number of overnight stays in the region linked to activity tourism 

•   Emergence of the new Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Programme

•   Development of key arrival points (new bus station and recent train station works)

•   20% of the County Borough sits within the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

•   Trailing of new satellite tourist information points at key sites

•   Possible new Interreg, Atlantic and VVP2 projects

•   Potential to develop year-round tourism in the region

•   More coordinated marketing through partnership working

•   Inward investment potential with integrated infrastructure ready to be utilised

•   Strategic collaboration with other South East Wales Local Authorities through the 
Destination Management Group

•  Welsh Government recognise that tourism is a sector priority

•   The profile of tourism and destination management is now a corporate priority in the 
Local Authority

•   Key projects commencing such as the South Wales Metro System and Circuit of Wales

•   The implementation of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which 
include improvements to Merthyr Tydfil’s social, economic, environmental and cultural 
well-being

•   ICT connectively weak in some parts of the region (broadband, 3G,4G)

•   Competition from other regions

•   Potential for localised and national media to portray Merthyr Tydfil in a negative 
manner

•   Tourism sector negatively impacted if Local Authority continues to cut tourism 
provisions

•   No relevant grant streams for business support

•   Competition from Cardiff in terms of stronger, traditional retail offer

•   Welsh Governments change from grant to investment support (loan orientated) 

P
age 36



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 17

6. ACTION PLAN:

No. Key Action:

1. Promotion of the Destination:

1.1 Work collaboratively with stakeholders to support destination specific marketing campaigns

1.2
Research and use emerging technologies that enhance current marketing mechanisms to promote Merthyr Tydfil to a 
wide audience

1.3 Explore the development of ‘Tourist Information Points’ across the County Borough

2. Activity Tourism Development:

2.1 Broaden the development of activity tourism attractions and outdoor providers to enhance the region’s offer

2.2 Explore new opportunities to develop new and emerging activity products 

2.3
Work collaboratively with tourism sector businesses to develop specific activity tourism packages for visitors and local 
residents

2.4 Exploration of potential of hosting large-scale events in the region

2.5  Ensure the Rights of Way, NCN, tracks and trails are managed effectively

3. Cultural Heritage Tourism Development:

3.1 Continue to support the preservation, maintenance and development of key heritage sites across the County Borough

3.2 Provide a support mechanism for the Merthyr Tydfil Heritage Forum and associated groups

3.3 Identification of all heritage assets across the County Borough via a dedicated mapping exercise

3.4 Develop a heritage-specific video for Merthyr Tydfil promoting the area’s rich history and culture

3.5 Strategic support of the development of the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area

3.6
Support the implementation of the Welsh Language Standards and subsequent promotion of bilingual information at key 
attractions and heritage / arrival points

4. Development of Merthyr Tydfil’s Business Infrastructure:

4.1 Promote the strengths of the region in terms of encouraging inward investment into the area

4.2 Encourage the promotion of entrepreneurship and growth opportunities amongst new and existing local businesses

4.3 Further develop the existing business community with appropriate grant funding and business advice 

4.4 Explore further opportunities for the development of niche businesses in the area

P
age 37



Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan18

No. Key Action:

4.5 Pursue EU funding opportunities to assist with developing Merthyr Tydfil’s business infrastructure

4.6 Encourage the principles of entrepreneurship across all educational facilities 

4.7 Support the reuse of building space to provide opportunities for economic activity

4.8 Promote the roll-out of the new Broadband infrastructure within the business community

5. Improvements to the Public Realm:

5.1 Review the current signage situation through an annual signage audit

5.2 Continue to support the concept of Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) to enhance key business areas

5.3 Contribute to the redevelopment of interpretation at all regional visitor arrival points 

5.4 Actively pursue ‘Purple Flag’ accreditation for the town centre

6. Tackling Perceptions:

6.1 Develop a concise communication protocol with all press and marketing materials to improve coverage of Merthyr Tydfil

6.2
Work with the local residents in terms of supporting community tourism and promotion of the region to potential visitors to 
the area

7. Broaden the Quality of Accommodation Businesses:

7.1
Undertake an annual diagnostic review process with the accommodation sector to assess need and potential 
improvements of businesses

7.2 Strategically support all accommodation providers with improving their Visit Wales grading and respective tourism offer

7.3 Explore potential diversification of identified accommodation businesses

7.4 Investigate the potential of developing a high quality large hotel in the County Borough

8. Events:

8.1 Further exploration of staging major events in Merthyr Tydfil

8.2 Continue to support a coordinated approach to delivering a sustainable events programme with key stakeholders 

9. Market Segmentation:

9.1 Further enhance the principles of market segmentation and how it can be used better understand potential markets

9.2 Explore key data from the Visit Merthyr Website with a view of obtaining data relating to site visits and demographics

P
age 38



www.visitmerthyr.co.uk 19

No. Key Action:

10. Research:

10.1
Make better use of primary mechanisms for data capture by reinstating the diagnostic review process and analysis of 
STEAM figures

11. Training & Volunteering:

11.1 Promote the continued support of all training opportunities for businesses and residents with key stakeholders

11.2 Further support the development and promotion of regional volunteering schemes focussed around capacity building

11.3 Provide recruitment solutions based on the need from potential inward investors

12. Strategic Partnership Working:

12.1 Reinvigorate the Destination Management Partnership to ensure projects, actions and priorities are delivered 

12.2
Work with regional strategic partners to identify delivery links and potential funding streams which add value and enhance 
visitors’ experience 

12.3
Support all thematic and area-specific groups with a view of further developing the destination’s attractiveness of 
promotion opportunities 

13. Food & Drink:

13.1 Promote the use of localised produce at key food retailers across the County Borough 

13.2 Support the development of farmers’ markets and food-related events in the area

13.3 Encourage businesses and stakeholders to adopt Fair Trade products

13.4 Explore the potential of developing the night time economy in the town centre 

 

P
age 39



The Strategic Tourism Team
The Economic Development and Strategic Tourism Department
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Unit 5, Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil. CF48 4TQ

Email: visit@merthyr.gov.uk
www.visitmerthyr.co.uk

P
age 40



 

 

 
 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Home to School Transport 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 This report proposes changes to the current home to school transport 
service for pupils in mainstream education. The options for change are 
summarised            below.  
 

1.2 A business case has been developed that appraises three options: 
 
1.2.1 Option 1 – The service remains as is; 

 
1.2.2 Option 2 – Streamline the service so free home to school 

transport is provided for children attending schools within the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium and St Johns for faith) 

1.2.3 Option 3 – Streamline the service so free home to school 
transport is provided for children attending schools within the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium) 
 

 

1.3 On 26th September 2018, Council approved the start of a public 
consultation exercise regarding the above options for the provision of home 
to school transport. This report details the outcome of the 12 week public 
consultation.   

  

Date Written 20th February 2019 

Report Author Sue Walker & Alyn Owen 

Service Area Learning & Transport 

Committee Date 5th March 2019 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 

2.1 In noting and debating the content of this report, committee members 
scrutinise the approach taken to arriving at the recommended option (option 
2) in the Council report (appendix A). 
  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 Following the review of home to school transport, it has become apparent 
that the Council is providing transport for pupils in mainstream education to 
attend schools outside of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough. This report 
puts forward options for the mainstream transport service to be streamlined 
whereby free home to school transport is provided for children attending 
schools within the County Borough only. Transport to the Welsh-medium 
school Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun will continue (in options 2 and 3) along with 
the Church in Wales faith school St Johns (in option 2). 
 

3.2 The current home to school transport policy states that for pupils of 
compulsory school age (5-16) there is a statutory duty placed upon the 
Council to provide free home to school transport to a pupil’s nearest suitable 
school if they reside beyond the ‘walking distance’ to that school - i.e. 2 
miles for primary aged pupils and 3 miles for secondary aged pupils. Based 
on our current policy, this is the case even if the school attended is not 
maintained by the Council, for example, if it is in a neighbouring Local 
Authority area. 
 

3.3 The Council provides free transport to a number of schools outside the 
County Borough; six secondary schools and one primary school. These are 
listed below: 
 
3.3.1 The schools are: 

 

 Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, RCT 

 Lewis Boys School, Pengam 

 Lewis Girls School, Ystrad Mynach 

 Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni, Blackwood 

 Cardinal Newman R.C School, Pontypridd 

 St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School, Aberdare 

 St Michael's R.C Primary, Pontypridd 
 

 

3.4 Currently for academic year 2018/19, 576 pupils are transported to schools 
outside of the County Borough. 405 pupils attend Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 
and the remaining 171 pupils attend the other 6 schools. These figures are 
detailed in the Finance section of the Business Case below (appendix A) 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 

4.1 The reviewing of the mainstream home to school transport service arose as 
part of an exercise set out by Corporate Management Team (CMT). Here 
we considered the long term sustainability of the service and the 
continuation of providing the required educational needs within the County 
Borough. In addition we also recognised our transport and education 
policies could be better aligned, thus preventing pupils looking outside the 
County Borough to meet their needs and consequently increasing the 
funding schools receive. 
 

4.2 Currently we pay £166,267.10 per year to transport pupils to schools in 
other Local Authorities (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) and we are not 
gaining any benefit from doing so. In options 2 and 3 we are proposing to 
retain Merthyr children within Merthyr Tydfil education. 

4.3 A report on home to school transport went to Council on 26th September 
2018 for approval to undertake a 12 week public consultation exercise on 
the proposed 3 options for changing the service. 
 

4.4 The consultation ran from the 22nd October 2018 to 4th February 2019.  
Three drop-in consultation sessions were held, letters were sent to all 
schools within the County Borough for distribution to parents and pupils, 
plus an online survey was developed for respondents to have their say and 
vote for their preferred option. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 

5.1 Following the completion of the 12 week public consultation, results have 
been gathered and analysed. Further detail including the feedback from the 
public consultation can be found below in Appendix A 
 

5.2 For each of the 3 options, a risk analysis and a finance analysis exercise 
has been carried out. The results can be found below in Appendix A. 
 

5.3 On the basis of the findings, we believe option 2 is an achievable way 
forward and meets with our objectives as mentioned in 3.1 for the transport 
service to become efficient, effective and sustainable for the future. 
 

5.4 The report is being presented to scrutiny for challenge, with view to taking it 
to Full Council for a decision on 20th March 2019. 

  

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1 We want to meet with the objectives to streamline the service and ensure 
it’s more sustainable in the future. This will ensure the service can continue 
to provide the required transport to meet the educational needs of our 
pupils.  
 
 

Page 43



 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 

7.1 Following scrutiny, we’d like to take the report to Council on 20th March 
2019 for approval. 
 

7.2 Following Council decision, any policy changes will occur in October 2019 
ready for implementation in the academic year of 2012/21. Parents will be 
made aware in the new admissions policy which schools transport will be 
provided to, so they are fully informed before they make their school choice.  
 

7.3 Any removal of mainstream transport to a school shall not affect children 
already in attendance. Therefore transport will not completely cease from a 
school until academic year 2023/24. However the number of pupils 
accessing free transport will reduce year on year. Pupils who have already 
started at the school, on or before academic year 2019/20 will be offered 
free transport for their remaining time at the school. 

  

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 

8.1 As part of the development of the 3 options and running the consultation 
exercise, we’ve considered how to make the service sustainable for the 
future. We feel option 2 is the best option to achieve this whilst still enabling 
students to study in Welsh-medium education and faith-education 
provisions. 
 

8.2 We have involved the community in the consultation exercise. We have held 
various consultation sessions across the County Borough, communicated 
directly with schools, parents, pupils, and encouraged the wider public via 
social media to have their say. The consultation ensured that the community 
had access to the information regarding all of the possible options, and had 
the opportunity to ask questions and suggest alternative options. 
 

8.3 By considering the ‘Best Start’ objective, we have aimed to make the 
service sustainable for future generations with the options that have been 
developed. 

 
 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR LEARNING 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION 

LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
GERAINT THOMAS 

CABINET MEMBER FOR 
REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 

PROTECTION 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Integrated Impact 

Assessment 
 

14.02.2019 
 

Transport Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

  
 
 

Page 45



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FULL COUNCIL REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Home to School Transport 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 This report proposes changes to the current home to school transport 
service for pupils in mainstream education. The options for change are 
summarised below.  
 

1.2 Based on the principle of providing high quality education in the 
Borough of Merthyr Tydfil for Merthyr Tydfil children, a business case 
(appendix 1) has been developed that appraises three options: 
 
1.2.1 Option 1 – The service remains as is. 

 
1.2.2 Option 2 – Streamline the service so free home to school 

transport is provided for children attending schools within the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium and St Johns for faith). 
 

1.2.3 Option 3 – Streamline the service so free home to school 
transport is provided for children attending schools within the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium) 
 

1.3 On 26th September 2018, Council approved the start of a public 
consultation exercise regarding the above options for the provision of 

Date Written 14th February 2019 

Report Author Sue Walker & Alyn Owen 

Service Area Learning & Transport 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th March 2019 

Page 46



 

 

home to school transport. This report details the outcome of the 12 
week consultation. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 

2.1 In noting and debating the content of this report, Option 2 be approved 
for the reasons set out in the report: taking in to consideration the 
advantages and disadvantages of each option, the financial 
implications and the public consultation feedback. 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
] 

3.1 Following the review of home to school transport, it has become 
apparent that the Council is providing transport for pupils in 
mainstream education to attend schools outside of the Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough. This report puts forward options for the mainstream 
transport service to be streamlined whereby free home to school 
transport is provided for children attending schools within the County 
Borough only. Transport to the Welsh-medium school Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun will continue (in options 2 and 3) along with the Church in 
Wales faith school St Johns (in option 2). 
 

3.2 The current home to school transport policy states that for pupils of 
compulsory school age (5-16) there is a statutory duty placed upon the 
Council to provide free home to school transport to a pupil’s nearest 
suitable school if they reside beyond the ‘walking distance’ to that 
school - i.e. 2 miles for primary aged pupils and 3 miles for secondary 
aged pupils. Based on our current policy, this is the case even if the 
school attended is not maintained by the Council, for example, if it is in 
a neighbouring Local Authority area. 
 

3.3 The Council provides free transport to a number of schools outside the 
County Borough; six secondary schools and one primary school. These 
are listed below: 
 
3.3.1 The schools are: 

 Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, RCT 

 Lewis Boys School, Pengam 

 Lewis Girls School, Ystrad Mynach 

 Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni, Blackwood 

 Cardinal Newman R.C School, Pontypridd 

 St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School, Aberdare 

 St Michael's R.C Primary, Pontypridd 
 

3.4 Currently for academic year 2018/19, 576 pupils are transported to 
schools outside of the County Borough. 405 pupils attend Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun and the remaining 171 pupils attend the other 6 schools. 
These figures are detailed further in the Finance section of the 
Business Case (appendix 1). 

Page 47



 

 

 
3.5 In reviewing the current service delivery, three options have been 

considered. These three options are detailed further in appendix 1 
below. 

 

3.6 Following Council approval on 26th September 2018, it was agreed that 
a 12 week consultation exercise would commence October 2018.  The 
purpose being to engage with the community to involve them in our 
decision making by obtaining their views on our proposed options.  

 

3.7 The consultation ran from Monday 22nd October 2018 to Monday 4th 
February 2019. Three drop-in consultation sessions were held, letters 
were sent to all schools within the County Borough for distribution to 
parents and pupils, plus an online survey was developed for 
respondents to have their say. A press release was created, plus 
several messages were posted on social media informing the general 
public of the consultation and how to take part.  

 
3.8 Following the completion of the 12 week public consultation, results 

have been gathered and analysed. Further detail including the 
feedback from the public consultation exercise is explained below in 
appendix 2.  

 
 

4.0 RATIONALE 
 

4.1 The reviewing of the mainstream home to school transport service 
arose as part of an exercise set out by Corporate Management Team 
(CMT). Here we considered the long term sustainability of the service 
and the continuation of providing the required educational needs within 
the County Borough. In addition we also recognised our transport and 
education policies could be better aligned, thus preventing pupils 
looking outside the County Borough to meet their needs and 
consequently increasing the funding schools receive. Further 
information regarding pupil funding can be found in appendix 1. 
 

4.2 Currently we pay £166,267.10 per year to transport pupils to schools in 
other Local Authorities (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) and we are 
not gaining any benefit from doing so. In options 2 and 3 we are 
proposing to retain Merthyr children within Merthyr Tydfil education. 
 

4.3 The Council has a legal duty to provide free home to school transport 
for pupils of compulsory school age. However the Learner Travel 
Operational Guidance (2014) says that deciding which suitable school 
is the learners 'nearest' is a matter for the Council to determine in 
accordance with our own transport and education policies. 
 

4.4 Currently we have no definition in our school transport policy of what is 
a ‘suitable school’ so historical practice in some instances is to simply 
transport to the nearest school according to distance, which for some 

Page 48



 

 

pupils is outside the County Borough. The Learner Travel Operational 
Guidance (2014) defines ‘nearest suitable school’ as: “where the 
‘education or training provided is suitable having regard for the age, 
ability and aptitudes of the learner and any learning difficulties he or 
she may have”, not necessarily the nearest in terms of distance. 

 

4.5 Options 2 and 3 recommend a change in policy wording to better 
define the term ‘nearest suitable’ and to also state that the nearest 
suitable will be within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (unless the 
provision is not provided within Merthyr Tydfil). This would help 
implement the benefits outlined in 4.1. 

 

4.6 Option 3 involves the removal of all transport to schools outside the 
County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun). This includes St 
John’s in Rhondda Cynon Taff. St John’s is a Church in Wales 
(Anglican) secondary school. Children can attend St Johns from ages 
11 to 18 and currently we transport 63 pupils from Merthyr Tydfil at a 
cost of £85,988.30. There are no Christian/Anglican primary schools in 
Merthyr Tydfil. Currently pupils attend non-faith primary schools and 
then choose to continue their studies from year 7 onwards at St John’s. 
St John’s admissions policy states they will accept pupils who are not 
of faith as well as those who are.  

 

4.7 Following Council decision, any policy changes will be made in October 
2019 for implementation in the academic year 2020/21. Parents will be 
made aware in the new admissions policy which schools transport will 
be provided to, so they are fully informed before they make their school 
choice.   

 

4.8 Any removal of mainstream transport to a school shall not affect 
children already in attendance. Therefore transport will not completely 
cease from a school until academic year 2023/24. However the number 
of pupils accessing free transport will reduce year on year. Pupils who 
have already started at the school, on or before academic year 
2019/20 will be offered free transport for their remaining time at the 
school. 

 
 

5.0 OPTIONS 
 

5.1 Option 1 – Remain as is 
 
5.1.1 This option assumes that the current arrangements remain, and 

there are no changes to current provision. 
 

5.1.2 Further detail including advantages and disadvantages and a 
risk analysis can be found below in appendix 1. 
 

 
5.2 Option 2 – Streamline service 

Page 49



 

 

 
5.2.1  Streamline the service so we provide free home to school 
          transport for children attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil     
          County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh 
          medium education and St Johns for faith). 
 
5.2.2 Further detail including advantages and disadvantages and a 

risk analysis can be found below in appendix 1. 
 

 
5.3 Option 3 – Streamline service 

 
5.3.1 Streamline the service so we provide free home to school 
          transport for children attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil 
         County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh 
         medium education). 

 
5.3.2  Further detail including advantages and disadvantages and a 
          risk analysis can be found below in appendix 1. 

 
 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

6.1 Option 1 
There will be no revenue savings with this option as there will be no 
change to the service. 
 

6.2 Option 2 
The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £80,278.80 per 
year. This saving is based on current figures for academic year 
2018/19, assuming the pupils would no longer need school transport. 
 

6.3 Option 3 
The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £166,267.10 per 
year. This saving is based on current figures for academic year 
2018/19, assuming the pupils would no longer need school transport. 
 

6.4 Savings for each option are explained in further detail in appendix 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-
being Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will 
have a positive effect on the ‘Best Start to Life’ Well-being Objective and the 
‘Environmental’ Well-being Objective.  
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 

 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR LEARNING 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION 

LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
GERAINT THOMAS 

CABINET MEMBER FOR 
REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 

PROTECTION  
  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Integrated Impact 
Assessment 

14.02.2019 Transport Department 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution? 

No 

 
 

Page 51



 

 

Appendix  

Business Case – Home to School Transport 
 

Project Title Home to School Transport 

Date February 2019 

Lead Officer(s) Sue Walker and Alyn Owen 

Service Area Learning and Transport 

Purpose of the Business Case 

Project Background 
In the sections below, please give the reasons identified for this project to take place, addressing the 

Council's Wellbeing Objectives (Wellbeing of Future Generation Act, 2015) and what has encouraged 

the development of this business case?  Consider what approach has been taken place against the 5 

Ways of Working e.g. - take an integrated approach when setting and taking steps to meet our 

Wellbeing Objectives; work with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions; 

involve people in the decisions that affect them, reflecting the diversity of our communities.  Please 

build on Project Concept. 

The purpose of this project is to outline & appraise proposed changes to the mainstream 

home to school transport service. This business case aims to explore a potential alternative 

to the current way the service is delivered. 

 

The provision of the home to school transport service is managed by the Public Protection 

and Housing Service, and the policy is determined by the Education department. The current 

policy for the provision of mainstream home to school transport 2018/19 states that for pupils 

of compulsory school age (5-16) there is a statutory duty placed upon the Council to provide 

free home to school transport to a pupil’s nearest suitable school if they reside beyond the 

‘walking distance’ to that school - i.e. 2 miles for primary aged pupils and 3 miles for 

secondary aged pupils. Currently this is the case even if the school attended is not 

maintained by the Council, for example, if it is in a neighbouring Local Authority area. 

 

The Learner Travel Operational Guidance (2014) defines ‘nearest suitable school’ as: 

“where the ‘education or training provided is suitable having regard for the age, ability and 

aptitudes of the learner and any learning difficulties he or she may have”, not necessarily the 

nearest in terms of distance. 

 

The provision of school transport is funded out of core grant funding. For the current 

academic year 2018/19 the estimated total cost of home to school transport (including post-

16) at year end is expected to be £1,156,000 for 1627 pupils.  

 

There are 10 Merthyr Tydfil Schools we currently provide free mainstream travel to. They 

consist of 4 secondary schools and 6 primary schools. 

Page 52



 

 

 

There are 7 schools outside the County Borough we currently provide free mainstream 

transport to. These are: 

 

* Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, RCT (Welsh) 

* Lewis Boys School, Pengam 

* Lewis Girls School, Ystrad Mynach 

* Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni, Blackwood (Welsh) 

* St Michael's R.C, Pontypridd (Faith) 

* Cardinal Newman R.C School, Pontypridd (Faith) 

* St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School, Aberdare (Faith) 

 

Business Need / Case for Change 

 

In the Learner Travel Operational Guidance (2014), the definition of 'nearest suitable school' 

is where the education is suitable having regard for the age, ability and aptitudes of the 

learner. Relevant legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states that 

transport must be provided free of charge to a school outside a Local Authority's area if that 

establishment is deemed to be the learner's ‘nearest suitable’ school by the Council. 

 

The guidance says that deciding which suitable school is the learners 'nearest' is a matter for 

the Council to determine in accordance with our own transport and education policies.  

Parents and learners may express a preference for a particular school or a particular type of 

language/faith provision but the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 does not confer on 

those parents and learners any rights to free transport to their preferred school, unless that 

school is determined by the Council to be their nearest suitable school and the learner meets 

the distance criteria. 

 

Currently we have no definition in our school transport policy of what is a ‘suitable school’.  

Also, our transport policy is not aligned with our school admissions policy. Within the 

transport policy, it does not list or refer to any particular schools and therefore when parents 

approach us requesting travel for their child, the Transport team simply identify which school 

is their ‘nearest suitable’ according to distance (which for some pupils is outside the County 

Borough). With this in mind, for two options outlined below we are proposing to better align 

the two policies and also identify ‘nearest suitable’ schools within the school transport policy. 

This way there will be a definitive list of which schools we will provide transport to, and the 

transport policy will make reference to this list. 

 

Welsh-Medium Education 

 

As a Council, we have a legal duty to promote access to Welsh-medium education. The 

Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states when Local Authorities decide which schools 

are most suitable for learners, they have a duty under Section 10 of the measure to 'promote 

access to education and training through the medium of Welsh'. In assessing the needs of 

Welsh learners, there is no Welsh secondary education provider in Merthyr Tydfil and so the 

Page 53



 

 

nearest suitable school is Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun in Rhondda Cynon Taff. 

 

The Education Act 1996 - Section 354 states it is the Local Authority's policy that every child 

should have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language. Our School Admissions 

policy 2018/19 names Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun as the school to continue their education 

after primary school. 

 

Faith education 

 

We currently provide mainstream home to school transport for students to attend three faith 

schools out of the County Borough. These are St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High 

School (Aberdare), Cardinal Newman R.C School (Pontypridd) and St Michael's R.C Primary 

School (Pontypridd). The above faith schools are not currently listed in our School 

Admissions policy. 

 

The Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 guidance on faith provision is if a learner wishes 

to attend a faith-based school which is the ‘nearest suitable’ and also meets the distance 

criteria, then the Local Authority will be under a duty to provide free home to school 

transport. However if this criteria is not met, there is no legal requirement for a Local 

Authority to provide free transport. In such cases, the provision of transport is a discretionary 

matter. 

 

With regards to Cardinal Newman R.C School and St Michael’s R.C School, they are both 

Roman Catholic schools. However in Merthyr Tydfil we have 4 Roman Catholic schools (3 

primary’s and 1 secondary). Therefore these schools would be a suitable school for children 

living in Merthyr Tydfil who are of Catholic faith. However currently 15 children are 

transported to catholic faith schools outside of the County Borough at a cost of £26,204.80. 

 

St John’s is a Church in Wales (Anglican) secondary school in neighbouring Local Authority 

Rhondda Cynon Taff. Children can attend St Johns from ages 11 to 18 and currently we 

transport 63 pupils from Merthyr Tydfil at a cost of £85,988.30.  

There are no Christian/Anglican primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil. Currently pupils attend 

non-faith primary schools and then choose to continue their studies from year 7 onwards at 

St John’s. St John’s admissions policy states they will accept pupils who are not of faith as 

well as those who are.  

 

Equality legislation and school transport 

 

In the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 it states we have the following legal obligations: 

 

1. Provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school age 

attending primary school who live 2 miles or further from their nearest suitable 

school. 

2. Provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school age 

attending secondary school who live 3 miles or further from their nearest suitable 

school. 

3. Discretionary provision to all other establishments (including faith, post-16) 

Page 54



 

 

4. Promote access to Welsh medium education. 

 

Section 11 of the Equality Act (2010) states that in relation to religious or belief related 

discrimination, the provisions of the Equality Act do not apply with regards to transport to and 

from school. Therefore, it is legal to provide more favourable treatment to pupils of one 

particular religion or belief over another type of religion or belief. However local authorities 

still need to ensure that their transport policies do not unlawfully discriminate in relation to 

other protected characteristics or contravene the Human Rights Act and also that they 

comply with the statutory Learner Travel Guidance. 

 

As well as the duty to provide transport for some pupils, a Local Authority has discretionary 

powers to provide home to school transport for other learners. A Local Authority does not 

have to use their discretionary powers to provide free travel. However, if they do the Local 

Authority must ensure the policy is fair, reasonable and complies with relevant equality 

legislation to ensure that they do not discriminate unlawfully between learners when using 

their discretionary powers. 

 

Pupil funding 

 

The Welsh Government provides funding to local authorities for pre-16 provision in schools 

through the local government revenue settlement in the form of the Revenue Support Grant 

(RSG). The RSG is distributed to local authorities using a commonly agreed formula. Local 

authorities are then responsible for deciding how they spend their allocation of RSG on the 

services for which they are responsible, which includes schools. Internally, we use a funding 

formula for determining how much funding each school will receive (based on a number of 

factors such as size and pupil numbers). 

 

The amount of RSG each Local Authority in Wales receives is announced annually in the 

Local Government Settlement. The amount is determined by a number of factors, but one 

factor is the number of pupils in our education system. If our pupil numbers increase, the 

more grant we receive. However it should be noted that this positive increase in funding for 

pupils numbers may still mean an overall reduction in RSG for the Council.   

 

For 2018/19, we have calculated that there would have been a net financial benefit to the 

Authority for each pupil moving to one of our schools. The figures for 2019/20 onwards will 

not be known until each settlement is released, but we are confident that each additional 

pupil moving into our schools would give us a net financial benefit. Although, it needs to be 

highlighted that there is a potential risk associated with increasing pupil numbers. If the RSG 

funding does not cover the funding required for schools to absorb those extra pupils, the 

money would need to be found corporately. 

 

For academic year 2018/19 we currently have 171 pupils (year 7 – 13) being transported to 

schools outside of the County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) at a cost of 

£166,267.10 per year. 

 

As we are proposing a phased approach with the 2 options, whereby any new children in 

2020/21 will be encouraged to attend Merthyr Schools, the number of additional children per 

Page 55



 

 

year (based on a current year group average) that potentially will be joining Merthyr Tydfil 

schools is 30.  

 

Coach operator contracts 

 

Transport operator contracts were renewed in July 2018 and most operators increased their 

renewal contracts. In total the service to transport children out of the County Borough for 

2018/19 cost approximately 3% more than it did in 2017/18. The cost to run the service is 

expected to increase further in the future. 

 

Implementation 

 

For the proposed options, changes cannot be implemented until Academic year 2020/21 and 

the first savings will not be realised until April 2021.  

Following Council decision, any changes to the admissions policy will be made in October 

2019 in readiness for the following academic year 2020/21. Parents will be made aware in 

the new admissions policy which schools transport will be provided to, so they are fully 

informed before they make their school choice.   

 

Any removal of mainstream transport to a school shall not affect children already in 

attendance. Therefore transport will not completely cease from a school until academic year 

2023/24. However the number of pupils accessing free transport will reduce year on year 

over the 4 years. 

Pupils who have already started at the school, on or before academic year 2019/20 will be 

offered free transport for their remaining time at the school. 

 

There are three options for consideration within this business case: 

 

* Option 1 - Remain as is 

* Option 2 – Streamline the service so free transport is provided for children attending 

schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for 

Welsh-medium and St Johns for faith) 

* Option 3 - Streamline the service so free transport is provided for children attending 

schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for 

Welsh-medium) 

 

These options are explored in more detail in the options section below. 

 

Consultation & Engagement 

A 12 week public consultation exercise was carried out from Monday 22nd October 2018 to 
Monday 4th February 2019. 
 
Consultation events were held at key locations. The consultation was also made available online 
and was publicised to the wider public via social media and the Council website.  

Page 56



 

 

HR Implications 

No MTCBC staff would be affected by the removal of school transport at this time. 

Corporate Fit and Project Drivers 

Please indicate where the project meets our Wellbeing objectives and/or service objectives. 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015)   Y 

Social Services & Wellbeing  Act (2014) N 

Driven by External Funding Opportunity N 

Driven by Service Benefits / Resilience Y 

Driven by Savings Opportunities Y 

Other (please state): N/A 

 

 

Options: 

Provide information and data regarding the proposed service changes.  In this section please refer to 

the nine Wellbeing objectives.   

1. Option 1 – Remain as is; this option assumes that the current arrangements 

remain and there are no changes to current provision 

Option 1 description 

There is no change to the existing arrangements. 

Advantages 

 There will be no immediate changes to the service that we currently provide. 

 Transport operators will continue with contracts so no impact on local 

businesses 

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 

which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 

the Education Act 1996. 

 Free transport will continue to St Johns Baptist C.I.W School (faith provider). 

 

Disadvantages 

 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 

school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 

year. 

 We fail to support our own educational establishments. 

 We are losing out on additional pupil-funding per year due to the children 

being educated in other Authorities. 

Page 57



 

 

 The Council will fail to achieve any financial savings potentially putting other 

services at risk. 

 

2. Option 2 – Reduce the service; free transport is provided for children attending 

schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 

and St Johns) 

Option 2 Description 

Streamline the service so we provide free mainstream home to school transport for 

pupils attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough. Still with the 

caveat that the school is their nearest suitable and is more than 2 miles (Primary) or 

3 miles (Secondary) away from home. 

Free transport will no longer be available for pupils who wish to attend a different 

school to those listed in our School Admissions Policy. However, free transport will 

still be provided to Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium education and St 

Johns for Faith education. 

Advantages 

 It keeps more Merthyr Tydfil children studying within the County Borough to 

benefit our Education service. Currently we are paying for pupils to study in 

schools in other Local Authorities.  

 Additional money will go into the schools budget (pupil funding) by retaining 

pupils within Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 

which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 

the Education Act 1996. 

 Free transport will continue to St Johns Baptist C.I.W School (faith provider). 

 We may achieve some savings. Most children will still need to be transported 

to a Merthyr school as they comply with the distance criteria. However there 

may be some pupils who do not and therefore a smaller bus could be used. 

 

Disadvantages 

 Possible negative feedback from parents and schools. 

 Potential impact on transport operators with the change in some contracts. 

 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 

school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 

year. 

 

 

3. Option 3 – Reduce the service; free transport is provided for children attending 

schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 

Rhydywaun) 

 

Page 58



 

 

Option 3 Description 

Streamline the service so we provide free mainstream home to school transport for 

pupils attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough. Still with the 

caveat that the school is their nearest suitable and is more than 2 miles (Primary) or 

3 miles (Secondary) away from home. 

Free transport will no longer be available for pupils who wish to attend a different 

school to those listed in our School Admissions Policy. However, free transport will 

still be provided to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun). 

Advantages 

 It keeps more Merthyr Tydfil children studying within the County Borough to 

benefit our Education service. Currently we are paying for pupils to study in 

schools in other Local Authorities.  

 Additional money will go into the schools budget (pupil funding) by retaining 

pupils within Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 

which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 

the Education Act 1996. 

 We will achieve savings. Most children will not comply with the distance 

criteria as they live close enough to their catchment school, so will not need 

transport. Some lower valleys pupils may still need to be transported to a 

Merthyr school but a smaller bus could be used. 

 The service will be more sustainable in the future. 

 

Disadvantages 

 Possible negative feedback from parents and schools. 

 Potential impact on transport operators with the change/loss of some 

contracts. 

 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 

school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 

year.

Page 59



 

 

Project Objectives and Critical Success Factors - Home to School Transport 
  

The tables below identifies whether each option will meet the project objectives, critical success factors, wellbeing objectives and project outcomes.  Each 

option has then been scored to identify the number of objectives and critical success factors the option meets. The objectives and outcomes will need to be 

SMART (Specific; Measurable; Achievable; Realistic; Time-bound) 

 

Project Objectives  

 

 

 

 

P
age 60



 

 

Critical Success Factors 

 

 

 

P
age 61



 

 

Wellbeing Objectives 

 

P
age 62



 

 

Project Outcomes 

 

 

Risk Assessment –Home to School Transport 

Below are the potential risks and barriers, scored against the various options. 
 

Risks 

 

 

 

P
age 63



 

 

Barriers 

 

 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 64



 

 

Finance 

Below are the current costs of the home to school transport provision to schools out of the County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun 

Rhydywaun) for academic year 2018/19, and the potential savings associated with the various options (as of 01/02/2019): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



 

 

Below is the breakdown of the transport used per school 

 

P
age 66



 

 

APPENDIX  
 
Home to School Transport Public Consultation Feedback 
 
The Consultation Process 
 
The proposal is to change the current mainstream home to school transport provision to 
become efficient, effective and sustainable. In a 12 week consultation exercise, we put 
forward to the public three options to be considered. These options are: 
 

1. Option 1 - The service remains as is 
2. Option 2 – Streamline the service so free home to school transport is provided for 

children attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium and St Johns for faith). 

3. Option 3 – Streamline the service so free home to school transport is provided for 
children attending schools within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium) 

 
With this range of options, we wanted to understand the views of the people of Merthyr 
Tydfil on the potential change to the home to school transport service. 
 
The consultation was held during the period Monday 22nd October 2018 to Monday 4th 
February 2019.  
 
Letters inviting people to take part in the consultation were sent out to all schools within the 
County Borough for distribution to parents and pupils. Other stakeholders such as the 
transport operators were also sent letters.  
 
The wider public were directed to the online questionnaire where the information regarding 
the proposed options could be accessed and where they could complete the online survey. 
 
An online survey was developed for respondents to have their say. A press release 
regarding the consultation was published on our website and was advertised on our social 
media channels.  
 
Paper questionnaires were made available at the Consultation venues and could also be 
requested from our Corporate Communications team. 
 
Officers from Transport, Education and Corporate Communications were present at all 
consultation venues. A welsh speaking officer was also on hand to translate if requested. 
 
Public Consultation Questionnaire 
 
A series of consultation questions were developed, which were as follows: 
 

1. Are you: 

 A pupil 

 Parent/carer 

 Transport provider 

 Other 
 

2. Merthyr Tydfil CBC is proposing the following three options in changing the current 
mainstream home to school transport provision.  

Page 67



 

 

By entering numbers 1-5 (1 = Most preferred and 5 = Least preferred), please rank 
the options according to your preference: 

 
3. If you have any comments or suggestions on options we may have not considered 

please comment below: 
 

The public were also provided with an options document which details the advantages and 
disadvantages of each option. They were encouraged to read this prior to completing the 
questionnaire. 
 
Consultation Responses 
 
Respondents were asked to use the questionnaire to respond formally to the consultation; 
via the online survey or by paper copy (provided at the consultation venues or by request 
from Corporate Communications). 
 
In total 79 responses were received. 
 

 75 received via the online questionnaire. 

 4 received via the paper questionnaire. 
 
Questionnaire Results 
 
Respondents were asked to rank the three options in accordance to their preference (1 = 
Most preferred and 5 = Least preferred) in a grid as shown below.  
 

 
 
They were asked to mark the circle against each option to show how they ranked them. 
When filling it in electronically on online survey, two circles in the same column could not be 
chosen i.e. two options could not be given a score of 1. 
 
After the 12 week consultation, the results from the online survey and the paper 
questionnaires showed respondents voted in the following way: 
 
 

Page 68



 

 

 
 
The results show the percentage of people who ranked each option. For each option the 
100% (moving horizontally) is split between the 3 different rankings, showing whether that 
option was voted most preferred or least preferred. 
 
For example – For option 1, the vote is split where 39.24% of people gave it a rating of 1 
(most preferred), 20.25% gave it a rating of 2 and 40.51% gave it a rating of 3 (least 
preferred).  
 
Looking at the results above, we can see Option 2 was the most preferred with over 87% of 
people giving this option a ranking of either 1 or 2.   
 
For the 79 respondents who completed the questionnaire, below is the breakdown 
according to the type of respondent they were: 
 

 
 
 
Feedback 
 
Responses received via the survey and at the consultation meetings have been analysed to 
identify views and concerns, and are summarised below. 
 
Reponses received that were positive towards changing the service include: 
 

 Pupils should remain within Merthyr Tydfil if there are suitable schools here. 
The choice to attend a particular school isn’t being taken away from parents; if 
the school they wish to send their child to is not their catchment school then 
parents should be responsible for the transport not the Council.  
 

 Transport should not be provided to schools outside the County Borough. The 
money would be better spent in our schools or to provide transport to The 
College, Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

 Providing transport to schools outside the County Borough does not make 
financial sense. If the school is purely choice rather than out of necessity, then 
the parents should be prepared to pay for the transport. It’s a waste of public 
spend. 

Page 69



 

 

 
Concerns raised in the feedback can be broadly summarised into several key areas: 
 

 A few respondents raised concerns over their children who currently attend 
schools outside the County Borough and receive free transport. Parents 
expressed how unhappy they are at the prospect of their children having to 
potentially move schools mid-way through their education and the impact this 
would have. 

 
However the information provided in the consultation states children who are 
currently in attendance at affected schools will continue to receive free transport until 
they finish their education. Any change will only apply to children who are due to 
start school on or after academic year 2020/21. It appears respondents did not read 
this information before completing the survey. 

 

 Some parents have expressed how they feel they should be able to choose 
which school their child attends and thus transport should be provided to 
those schools. Attending a school in Merthyr Tydfil is not their preferred 
choice. Some have said they chose a school outside the County Borough 
because they believe it offers different opportunities and provisions than 
Merthyr Tydfil schools.  

 
Options 2 and 3 will involve streamlining the service so free transport is provided if 
the provision is not available within Merthyr Tydfil. Where the provision is provided in 
the County Borough, this will be their nearest suitable school.  
 

 Parents of pupils who attend St John’s school have expressed how they have 
elected to attend that school for faith reasons and therefore believe transport 
should be provided as there is currently no Church in Wales faith school 
within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
There are no Christian/Anglican primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil. Currently pupils 

attend non-faith primary schools and then choose to continue their studies from year 

7 onwards at St John’s. St John’s admissions policy states they will accept pupils 

who are not of faith as well as those who are.  

 

 
 
 
 

Page 70



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Air Quality Management  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with an update on progress of the Air Quality 

Action Plan to reduce the level of nitrogen dioxide to an acceptable level in the area 
of Twynyrodyn Road. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee considers and approves the attached work programme to implement 

the reversal of traffic flow through Pont Morlais High Street. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Following the declaration by the Local Authority of an Air Quality Management Area 

in Twynyrodyn, an air quality action plan (AQAP) was produced detailing a range of 
measures that could be undertaken to reduce the level of nitrogen dioxide to an 
acceptable level.  

 
3.2 The AQAP was subjected to a 12 week consultation period of public consultation to 

seek views on it both generally and specifically on the engineering/traffic 
management changes which are potential solutions for bringing about a reduction in 
the levels of nitrogen dioxide to an acceptable level. The consultation closed on 8th 
June 2018. 

 
3.3 The results of the consultation exercise were analysed by Environmental Health 

Officers and Highways Engineers in conjunction with Corporate Communications. 

Date Written 26th February 2019 

Report Author Carwyn Morris 

Service Area Engineering and Traffic  

Committee Date 5th March 2019 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



The majority of the public and other stakeholders, including Public Health Wales and 
the Cwm Taf Health Board  favoured option 1a which proposed reducing  the volume 
of traffic on Twynyrodyn Road as a whole by providing an alternative northbound 
route for vehicles using the roundabout outside Tesco. 

 
3.4 Following approval by Full Council of option 1a of the AQAP on the 27th June 2018 

and by Welsh Government on the 27th July 2018, the Engineering and Traffic Section 
progressed work to implement the approved measures.  

  
 

4.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
4.1 To enable the reversing of the one-way traffic flow, alterations are required to the 

A4102 junction of Pontmorlais West / High Street (mini roundabout) and the junction 
of Church Street/Tramroadside North, together with alterations to several side road 
accesses on to the High Street. Furthermore due to the anticipated additional traffic 
volumes along Pontmorlais West and Bethesda Street it is necessary to re-configure 
the two sets of traffic lights in this area to reduce waiting times thereby minimising 
potential traffic congestion.  

 
4.2 To also assist in minimising potential traffic congestion, alterations will be made to 

the traffic lanes on approach to the traffic lights at Bethesda Street. The left lane will 
become Left Only and the right lane will be changed to Straight On and Right Turn. 
This will increase the stacking distance for vehicles between the two sets of traffic 
lights.     

 
4.3 The works will involve, but not be limited to the following key elements; 

 Realignment of existing kerb lines 

 Alterations to carriageway markings 

 Alterations to existing lit and non-lit highway signage 

 Provision of a new access to the existing car park at Pont Morlais 

 Carriageway and footway resurfacing and reconstruction 

 Installation of tactile crossing points 

 Relocation of existing street lighting columns 

 Re-phasing of the existing traffic lights at Pontmorlais 
 
4.4 MTCBC commissioned Capita to carry out the detailed design and produce the 

necessary tender documents for the scheme. 
 
4.5 MTCBC Traffic Section produced the necessary Traffic Orders to reverse the traffic 

flow through Pont Morlais High Street and these are ready to be introduced to 
coincide with the completion of the construction work. For information, no objections 
were received to traffic order that was advertised on the 15th November for 21 days 
through site notices and the Merthyr Express.  

 
4.6 Construction work to install 125m of new ducting and 15no. loop boxes started on 

the 25th February to allow the re-phasing of the two sets of traffic lights at Bethesda 
Street.    

 
 

Page 72



5.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
5.1 Appoint a contractor to carry out the remaining works mentioned in 4.3. 
 
5.2 A two week notice will be publicised prior to the start of the implementation of the 

traffic flow reversal through Pont Morlais High Street. Corporate Communications will 
also release information via social media. 

 
5.3 It is anticipated that all construction work will be completed by the middle of May 

2019 however to reduce conflict with the Merthyr Rising event it is proposed to 
implement the reversal of traffic after the May Bank Holiday on Tuesday 28th May.      

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The Air Quality Management Action Plan directly contributes to the Environmental 
Wellbeing theme within the Council’s Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future.  

 

 
CHERYLLEE EVANS 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING & COUNTRYSIDE 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme / Rhaglenni Gwaith 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached draft work programme and approves, revises 
or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 25th February 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 5th March 2019 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include:  
 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;  

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;  

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets;  

 Developing safer communities; and  

 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market. 
 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include:  
 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;  

 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 
hierarchy;  

 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 
spaces; and  

 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy. 
 
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include:  
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;  

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience;  

 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;  

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;  

 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home 
 

 
3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 

that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 

Page 76



matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 
Objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

             
This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue  
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 

 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 
 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 

Page 77



d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 
 
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet Members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 
 
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

  
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 
  

Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 
 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 

to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

Page 78



e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 
g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 

calls for evidence). 
 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 80



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  

5
th

 June 2018 

Scrutiny 
Committee Work 

Programme 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris 
Long / Steve 

Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Committee to discuss the draft work programme as prepared by the 
Task and Finish Group 
 

Post-16 Home to 
School Transport – 
Post Consultation 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas /  

Alyn Owen / 
Paul Lewis 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Post-16 transport is discretionary.  The Transport Section is responsible for 
ensuring value for money; whilst the Education Department od responsible for the policy.  This 
report will provide Scrutiny Members with an update on the recent public consultation findings.  
Members are asked to note and debate the report’s content and to scrutinise the approach taken 
which has led to the identification of a preferred option amongst the 5 options listed within the 
body of the report. 

17
th

 July 2018 

Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area 

Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long / Zoe 

Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on developments linked to 
the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area and the relationship with the Leisure Trust in ensuring the asset if 
effectively managed following the significant investment in the Heritage Area.  Officers will also 
offer Elected Members an update on the recent Design Commission Wales report and the 
Council’s involvement with this at this stage. 

11
th

 September 
2018 

Homelessness & 
Homelessness 

Prevention 
Strategy - Progress 

Update 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Steve 
Peters / Julian 

Pike 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 places a statutory requirement on 
every Local Council to produce a Homelessness Prevention Strategy that must be consulted upon; 
formulated and adopted by December 2018.  Officers will provide Elected Members with a 
progress update on the ongoing development of this Homelessness Prevention strategy and seek 
Members input on this. 
 

30
th

 October 
2018 

Homelessness & 
Homelessness 

Prevention 
Strategy - Progress 

Update 

Alyn Owen / 
Steve Peters / 

Julian Pike 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 places a statutory requirement on 
every Local Council to produce a Homelessness Prevention Strategy that must be consulted upon; 
formulated and adopted by December 2018.  Officers will provide Elected Members with a 
progress update on the ongoing development of this Homelessness Prevention strategy and seek 
Members input on this. 
 

P
age 81



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

(As the Crime & 
Disorder 

Committee) 
 

Violent Crime: 
Violence Against 
Women & Girls 

Alyn Owen / 
Steve Peters / 

Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Violence against Women and Girls was found to be a key priority within 
the community safety needs assessment.  Members will be offered an overview of violent crime in 
general, with a specific focus on Violence Against Women and Girls. 
 

27
th

 November 
2018 
 
 
 

 

Economic Growth 
Strategy & 
Partnership 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas /  

Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long  

 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Committee will receive a progress update on the Economic Growth 
Partnership’s activities and the development of the Economic Growth Strategy and accompanying 
Delivery Plan.  
 

Air Quality 
Management 
Action Plan – 

Progress Update 

Alyn Owen / 
Steve Peters / 

Susan Gow 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following the declaration of an Air Quality Management Area around 
Twynyrodyn Road, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is required to undertake formal public 
consultation to consider feedback against 3 options.  The Committee are requested to scrutinise 
the consultation process and feedback received from this public consultation and Elected 
Members will further support the development of the required Air Quality Action Plan. 

Introduction to the 
Geosense 

Intelligence System 

Alyn Owen  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Officers will offer a practical demonstration of the Geosense 
Data/Intelligence system which has recently been brought in to the Council by the Community 
Regeneration Team.   

15th January 
2019 

Continued 
Development of 

the Town Centre & 
the Night-time 

Economy 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas /  

Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long / 

Rhian Prosser /  
Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Following the Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 17th April 2018; 
Committee Members requested officers return to provide Members with an update including the 
further development of the Town Centre Master Plan and the night-time economy.   Members will 
also receive an update on Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) to date along with early 
indicators of the outcomes noted.  

(As the Crime & 
Disorder 

Committee) 
 

Substance Misuse – 
Drug Litter update 

 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas /  

Alyn Owen / 
Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following presentation to the Scrutiny Committee on 17/04/18 around the 
issue of substance misuse and drug litter, officers were requested to return with an update on 
progress made.  Elected Members will be given a practical demonstration of the drug litter 
reporting app currently under development; whilst officers will demonstrate how the intelligence 
gathered through this app will impact on the Council’s response rates etc. 
 

P
age 82



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Welsh National 
Library Standards 

Jane Sellwood / 
John Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Council has a statutory requirement  The Council has agreed to act as 

the independent assessor for the Welsh National Library Standards annual return.   Committee 

Members are therefore requested to receive a report on the Welsh National Library Standards plus 

supporting documents and to assess this information for factual accuracy. 

 

5th March 
2019 

Destination 
Development – 

Progress Update 
 

Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long / 
Ryan Barry 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   The Scrutiny Committee will receive an update report on the progress 
made linked to the work undertaken by the Council linked to Destination Development and will 
enable Members to identify progress made against the Destination Management Plan  

Active Travel Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long / 

Cheryl Jones / 
Alyn Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Scrutiny Committee Members will receive an update report on the work 
being undertaken linked to the Active Travel Act and scrutinise the process for the development of 
Active Travel Routes.  This report will include feedback on the findings of both the initial and 
follow-up consultation exercises. 

Air Quality 
Management 
Action Plan – 

Progress Update 

Cheryllee 
Evans/ Carwyn 

Morris 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following the declaration of an Air Quality Management Area around 
Twynyrodyn Road, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council undertook formal public consultation to 
identify the preferred way forward.  The Air Quality Action Plan was developed and secured 
approved by Full Council on 27/06/2018.  The Committee seeks an update on the work which has 
been done to progress the points laid down in the Action Plan, with a view to establishing the 
timeline for reversal of traffic flow is to be completed and any next steps. 

16th April 2019 

Trading Standards 
and Licensing 

Alyn Owen / 
Paul Lewis / 
Steve Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report outlining how the work of this department contributes to public 
health & wellbeing will be delivered to Committee Members.  An update on the practical activities 
to reduce the risks of the public becoming victims to scams; rogue traders etc. will be given, and 
Members will be asked to consider methods of intelligence sharing with Trading 
Standards/Licensing which could support improved outcomes for citizens. 

(As the Crime & 
Disorder 

Committee) 
Cwm Taf 

Community Safety 
Partnership & Plan 
– Progress Update 

Cllr Geraint 
Thomas /  

Alyn Owen / 
Steve Peters / 
Ryan Evans / 

Paul Lewis 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a presentation to the Committee on 17/04/18; Members will 
receive an update on the requirement to develop an Action Plan against the key priorities 
identified following completion of the Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment.  Elected 
Members will be advised what the findings of the Cwm Taf Strategic Assessment has had in 
practical terms. 
 

P
age 83



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Additional Items for consideration by Scrutiny Committee 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Enterprise & Business Support Alyn Owen / 
Chris Long / 
Ryan Barry / 
Lance 
Whitely 

The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the developments associated 
with Enterprise and Business Support including an update on the Orbit Centre; 
the support available for Town Centre Businesses and the Social Enterprise 
Strategy 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Review of the Updated Common Housing 
Allocation Policy (Living Merthyr Tydfil) 

and its impact on Citizens 

Alyn Owen / 
Steve 
Peters / 
Julian Pike 

The refocused Common Housing Allocations Policy (Living Merthyr Tydfil) was 
approved by Councillors on 212nd March 2017; with a ‘go live’ data scheduled 
for 3rd April 2018.  Members will be asked to consider a report highlighting the 
initial outcomes linked to the amended Housing Allocation Policy and the 
impact this has had as well as the implementation of the new housing software 
package, CIVICA and its impact in assisting the allocation of social housing in 
accordance with the policy. 

P
age 84


	Agenda
	3 Active Travel
	4 Update on Destination Management
	Appendix 1

	5 Home to School Transport
	6 Air Quality Management
	7 Work Programme 2018-19
	Appendix 1


